The Value of Incorporating Anthropology into Chronic Illness Treatment in the United States
with an Analysis of Heart Disease

A SENIOR CAPSTONE PROJECT Presented to The Department of Anthropology The Colorado College

By Ayla Loper 2018

Approved:	
Date:	

Abstract

The United States spends more money than any other high-income country on healthcare but has poorer outcomes in key healthcare measures. Integrating holistic anthropological theories and tools such as ethnography or evolutionary approaches can help medical practitioners deliver more effective care when faced with pressures and difficulties that occur when operating in the United States healthcare system. This incorporation of anthropology with biomedical care is specifically pertinent to chronic disease treatment. Here, I suggest anthropological theories and tools to improve the treatment of chronic illnesses. At the end of the theoretical discussion, I examine these issues with a focus on heart disease. Heart disease treatment in the United States is an example of a disease that could benefit greatly from the employment of an anthropological lens. I found that heart disease treatment in the United States does not cater treatment to individual cases or consider a variety of factors, even though heart disease commonly involves lifestyle factors.

On my honor, I have neither given, nor received, any unauthorized aid on this project. Honor Code Upheld.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Thesis statement: The benefit of anthropology to chronic illness care	2
Recent attempts to address healthcare problems in the United States	3
Pressures affecting health care practice in the United States	5
Medical Anthropology	8
Theories and methods in anthropology applicable to medicine	10
Ethnography as a tool to recognize all facets of illness	11
Evolutionary Theory and Medicine	15
Mismatches between evolved physiology and modern lifestyles	15
Symptoms as by-products of larger health problems	17
The power of culture in mediating health and treatment	19
Inequalities, Structural Violence and Human Rights in Health Care	21
Narrative and Humanistic Medicine	23
Anthropology and Foucault's Medical Gaze and Biopower	24
Narrative Medicine	25
Humanistic Medicine	28
How alternative medicine could supplement biomedicine	32
Heart Disease as an example	35
Background information about heart disease and risk factors	36
United States heart disease treatment.	39
The importance of lifestyle in heart disease	41
The benefit of anthropology in health care applied to heart disease	44
Conclusion	49
References Cited	51

Acknowledgements

To the Colorado College Anthropology Department for the resources and instruction provided. To my anthropology professors over the years who cultivated a sense of inquiry in me and provided a holistic and empathetic lens to view the world with. To Krista Fish, for providing oversight, comments and support advising me other the years and specifically on this project. To all of my professors at Colorado College for the instruction and framework of information to pull from while researching this project. To Colorado College for providing an unbelievably valuable and productive learning environment full of opportunities and inter-disciplinary learning. To everyone who read and provided comments and thoughts on the drafts of this project.

Introduction

Providing quality health care is necessary for a thriving nation as it leads to happier and more capable individuals (World Health Organization, n.d.). Scientific findings have allowed great strides within health care, treating and curing ailments that were once a death sentence (Beeson 1980; Cooter and Pickstone 2000; Porter 1997). Scientific and technological advancements, however, do not always translate into quality health care. For example, obesity and type 2 diabetes have become global epidemics despite these advancements (Alberti 2001). Furthermore, the United States (U.S.) spends fifty percent more on healthcare than the next highest spending high-income country of France (Squires and Anderson 2015). Despite this, the U.S. has poorer outcomes on key measures, such as life expectancy and the prevalence of chronic conditions (Squires and Anderson 2015). At the same time, Americans are the top consumers of sophisticated diagnostic imaging technology (e.g. MRIs) and prescription drugs (Squires and Anderson 2015). The U.S. remains the only economically developed country that does not have a national program that ensures universal healthcare access (Waitzkin 2000).

Despite the United States spending notably more on healthcare and steady increases in this spending over the last three decades, it has poorer results than other countries (Woolf and Aron 2013). This discrepancy may be explained by socioeconomic disparities because health in the U.S. is strongly patterned along socioeconomic lines (Braveman et al 2009). While the socially advantaged in the U.S. may consume technology and prescription drugs at high rates, lower socioeconomic groups may not have access to more basic health needs which contribute to the low health outcomes measures in the U.S. This disparity presents a striking contradiction, as money and technology are not leading to satisfactory health outcomes and raises the question of how medicine could be practiced more effectively in the United States. Here I suggest

anthropological theories and tools that can improve medical practice in the U.S. around chronic illness, using heart disease as a specific example.

Thesis statement: The benefit of anthropology to chronic illness care

My own interest in pursuing a health profession, along with listening to general complaints about United States health care from family and friends, led me to explore different theories concerning health care practice. When narrowing down my research focus, I planned to look at how the scientific emphasis of western medicine and other economic pressures could interfere with natural human healing processes. I also wanted to investigate whether other approaches could be integrated to better care of patients with chronic illness in the United States. As I explored a plethora of ideas and theories, I realized the many different ways anthropology could inform and improve the medical field. Here, I argue for how valuable anthropological theories and tools (e.g. ethnography or narrative medicine practices) are to medical practitioners striving for optimal care, specifically around chronic illnesses in the United States. These tools can improve medical practitioner's delivery of "health care" but are unable to address the broader problems with the United States' "healthcare" system. For example, ethnographic skills such as interviews and observation can garner information about an illness, such as whether someone can do more around the house or feels better, that biological measure cannot. Therefore, ethnography practice fosters the practitioner's skills to gather and recognize a variety of information about a specific patient. While scientific progress has greatly improved biomedical care, incorporating an anthropological lens into practice can also improve the quality of care delivered, most importantly for practitioners who interact with patients in diagnosis and treatment.

Recent attempts to address healthcare problems in the United States

The Affordable Care Act (ACA) attempts to address problems within the United States healthcare system, striving to provide health insurance to more Americans at a lower cost (Affordable Care Act, n.d.; Healthcare.gov, n.d.). The results suggest success as Levitt et al. (2016) found that the number of people enrolled in ACA has risen from 8 million in 2014 to 12.7 million in 2016. Furthermore, Glied, Ma, and Borja (2017) analyzed data from the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) finding that gaining insurance through the ACA decreased the probability of not receiving medical care by 20.9-25% and increased the probability of having a usual place of care by 47.1-86.5%. Authors concluded that the ACA improved access to care while decreasing the number of uninsured Americans (Glied, Ma, and Borja 2017). While politicians took steps towards universal healthcare access for Americans through the ACA, the universal healthcare goals of these politicians have not yet been fully reached and effects remain hard to ascertain because the law is still young (Blumenthal, Abrams and Nuzum 2015). Despite the fact that an increased number of Americans gained insurance coverage under the ACA, many citizens remain uninsured. Overall, the massive healthcare expenditures of ACA have resulted in modest outcomes, not improving the United States' performance on key health measures (Schneider et al. 2017).

In addition, many expressed "substantial and justifiable concern" about the effect the administration of President Trump might have on health in the United States, including lost insurance coverage for many Americans if ACA is repelled (Galea 2017: 229). Moreover, Trump's actions decreased women's health care including preventative, reproductive and chronic disease care in domains like contraceptives, abortions and teen pregnancy programs (Brindis et

al. 2017; Charo 2017). Most notably, on December 22nd, 2017 President Trump signed the tax reform bill Tax Cuts and Jobs Act into law that repeals the ACA individual insurance mandate (Garcia 2018). The individual mandate provided incentives for young and healthy people to enroll in healthcare in order to expand the number of people paying into the pool of healthcare insurance (Saltzman and Eibner 2015). While this repeal will lower government spending on subsidies to help American citizens afford coverage, "...it is estimated 13 million fewer people in the U.S. will have health insurance in 2027 without the mandate and premiums will rise by 10 percent (Garcia 2018:1)."

In a recent study, the United States ranked last in healthcare system performance among 11 similar countries, with low rankings in access, equity, healthcare outcomes and administrative efficiency (Schneider et al. 2017). In spite of recent efforts to improve healthcare access and outcomes, the United States still struggles with the delivery of medical care insurance. While coverage increased after the enactment of ACA, the United States still ranks low compared to other countries and areas for improvement are hard to pinpoint (Levitt et al. 2016; Schneider et al. 2017). In turn, as healthcare in the United States has become more tied to corporations (e.g. pharmaceutical companies or employer health care plans), the structures of oppression and the social determinants that affect health have increased in addition to changing the way we think about disease (Brody 2017; Waitzkin 2000). For example, pharmaceutical companies have had increased lobbying and marketing influence in U.S. healthcare (Brody 2017). Moreover, employers can now decide whether to provide birth control in their health insurance policies since the administration of President Trump rolled back the administration of President Obama's mandate that birth control be provided in the fall of 2017 (Birth control benefits, n.d.; Fox News,

Singman 2017; HealthCare.gov, n.d.; National Broadcasting Company, Kodjak 2017; National Public Radio, Fox 2017).

In some cases health care in the U.S. relies on corporate employer decisions and pharmaceutical lobbying that consider broad sweeping polices instead of individual patients. While these larger economic and policy problems are important, I focus on how medical professionals can work to provide quality health care and outcomes within the United States healthcare system. In this paper, I describe anthropological theories and tools practitioners can employ to ameliorate these medical practice problems at the individual patient level in the United States around chronic illness and examine heart disease as a specific example.

Pressures affecting health care practice in the United States

Western medicine, or "biomedicine", is a system in which healthcare professionals treat symptoms or disease with surgery, pharmaceuticals or radiation, dividing healthy patients from ill patients (National Cancer Institute, n.d.; Tsuei 1978). Biomedicine applies principles of natural sciences and research to treat patients in a standardized way (Lock and Gordon 1988; Lock and Nguyen 2018). In spite of advancements in western medicine that have improved diagnosis and treatment, other pressures imposed on the healthcare system have complicated the means of providing effective care. Criticisms around medical practice in the United States have escalated. For example, concerns include physicians who do not alert patients to the risks of medical procedures, over-billing of patients, and physicians receiving tacit financial benefit from companies (e.g. pharmaceutical lobbying) because of their professional knowledge (Charon 2001).

While these accusations are merited, outside pressures (e.g. time constraints and insurance companies) on medical professionals inhibit their ability to deliver medical care.

Recent generations of physicians manage "fragmentation, subspecialization, lack of continuity, technological demands, burgeoning patient volume [and] institutional stress" (Coulehan 2003: 87), which all place constraints on the quality of care and limit the time that physicians spend with patients. A wide range of economic factors limit conversations and relationships in modern health care practice in the United States (Charon 2001). These factors include increased healthcare costs from technological development and public expectations that have constrained effective health care practice (Conklin 2002; Weatherall et al. 2006). Some argue that financial incentives persist as the key problem, with doctors paid to carry out procedures like surgery, but not to seek less invasive alternatives or provide greater levels of individual-based care (Gawande 2014). In addition, the U.S. healthcare system increasingly misunderstands patient and doctor relationships in retail terms, posing numerous problems (Gawande 2014). This retail-like misunderstanding happens at many levels, with patients, doctors and companies treating health care as a strictly business and economic exchange. Valid concerns regarding health care practice point to economic pressures on western medical practice that interfere with quality care. As a result of these pressures, the United States health system faces the following:

millions of uninsured Americans, stark socioeconomic and geographic disparities in health outcomes, provider incentives that promote overuse of unnecessary treatments and procedures, fragmentation of services across venues of care, high rates of preventable medical errors, and an inability to address the complex needs of increasing number of patients suffering from multiple chronic diseases (Farmer et al. 2013: 332).

Some of these critics go as far as to describe the United States healthcare system as suffering from a quality-of-care crisis that, among other things, does not address a patient's experiences, erodes patient-physician relationships, and neglects to realize the ill patient as an actual person (Marcum 2008). In essence, the United States healthcare system has struggled with providing effective quality care, which has led to criticisms of the healthcare system overall.

Within discussions of these larger social healthcare problems, economic, structural and organizational issues remain the focus instead of other smaller-scale aspects of clinical practice such as patient and physician interactions (Mishler 1985). My research concentrates on the smaller scale aspects of clinical practice that each practitioner and clinic can contemplate and implement. Indeed, practitioners are responsible to respond to medical injustices and problems of the ill, because doing so cannot be left up to insurance and pharmaceutical industries who do not focus on the relief of suffering (Farmer et al. 2013). Insurance and pharmaceutical companies instead have interests that relate to profit. Farmer (2003) argues the problematic commodification of healthcare does not recognize health care as a human right. Instead, a greater realization of structural violence (e.g. racism, addiction, unemployment, domestic violence) that predetermines health conditions in medical practice is essential (Farmer 2003). Medicine should be tied to trust, ethics and common good instead of the self-interests of physicians, insurance plans or investors (Pellegrino 1999).

In order to inform practitioners, especially those who interact with patients as part of their practice (for example family practitioners versus radiologists or pathologists), I combine and present theories here in an anthropological context. To ground the discussion, I present theories as they pertain to chronic illness in the United States. Chronic illness patients spend a great deal of time interacting with healthcare professionals, and many chronic conditions have the potential to be managed and even improved (Mayo Clinic, n.d.; Willett 2002). Additionally, as the baby boom population ages, an increased number of patients suffer from chronic illnesses, placing greater pressure on the healthcare system to respond (Schneider et al. 2017). Although I focus on clinical practice around chronic illnesses, the theoretical framework presented here can be applied to many facets of health care when contemplating how to improve quality of care.

Medical Anthropology

Anthropology has come a long way from its marred past of blindness to inequality and structural violence, labeling systems like these "culture" (Farmer 2003). Many anthropologists today realize the past mistaken practices of anthropology and have striven to understand human nature in different capacities (Delle, Mrozowski, and Paynter 2000; Farmer 2003; Hill 1992; Hymes 1974; Shankles 1998). While the ways in which some practice anthropology still mirror these marred ways, the approaches by anthropologists that realize these past mistakes I draw on here.

The combination of theories I discuss align with the holistic approach of medical anthropology and can benefit medical anthropology as a whole. In the last few decades, medical anthropology created its own theoretical framework. Medical anthropology combines social, cultural, biological and linguistic anthropology to gain insight into factors that affect health, well-being and the experience and distribution of illness (Society for Medical Anthropology, n.d.). The sub-discipline draws theory from the broader field of anthropology but has also started generating conceptual and methodological advances on its own (Singer 1992). Increasingly, medical anthropology includes interdisciplinary interaction that brings about biocultural synthesis which anthropology strives for as a discipline (Sargent and Johnson 1996). The combination of theory here aligns with this interdisciplinary work that medical anthropologists use to create theories. There is great potential to combine biomedicine, which applies the principles of natural sciences, and anthropological tools, such as ethnography involving observation or interviews (Whitehead 2002).

Medical anthropology can address the problem concerning a lack of biocultural integration for studying health and disease (Greene 1992). A biocultural approach integrates

biological and cultural anthropology theories and methods towards a critical and productive dialogue around questions in anthropology (Hruschka, Lende, and Worthman 2005). This biocultural found in medical anthropology provides holistic frameworks to understand individuals and their relationship to their cultural environment (Hruschka, Lende, and Worthman 2005). A biocultural approach that integrates information spanning different disciplines can over valuable information and perspectives when considering cases that cross traditional academic boundaries (Hruschka, Lende, and Worthman 2005). This integrative biocultural approach within medical anthropology provides suitable methods for considering problems in the complex system of U.S. healthcare.

Anthropological research in medicine presents a truly revolutionary form of inquiry that can combat negative social determinants of health (Sargent and Johnson 1996). Anthropology can present an ethnomedical perspective that looks at the process of defining disease and the social response to disease, as well as the environment that could be causing the disease (Singer 1992). The broadly focused training of medical anthropologists allows them to avoid adverse outcomes that people working in the narrow focus of an economic or biomedical frame do not see (Foster and Anderson 1988). A narrow focus can cause physicians to miss aspects of an individual's illness like contributing factors to their condition or how patients are unable to carry out certain treatment options. For example, practitioners focused on biological measures (e.g. blood pressure, cholesterol levels, MRIs) may miss substantial lifestyle contributors such as smoking habits or diet that the patient should be encouraged to change. In a similar way, with a narrow concentration the practitioner may not realize that patients cannot comply to a medication or exercise regimen if they have constraints like homelessness, are a non-native English speaker, live in a food desert or work multiple jobs.

Medical anthropologists research social, physiological and biological factors to understand unique experiences of individuals and groups (Womack 2010). In the past, medical anthropologists argued for change in biomedical care (Manderson and Smith-Morris 2010). These proposed changes include insights like how structural violence, gender, ethnicity, age or class compound on one another and are further compounded by chronic illness (Manderson and Smith-Morris 2010). Although health services researchers studied solutions for the biomedical health system, approaches that strive for multidisciplinary evaluations fail by neglecting to use or develop underlying social science theory (Ferlie et al. 2016). Anthropology can help in this aspect with a multidisciplinary approach that recognizes many aspects of a problem and combines approaches and solutions.

Theories and methods in anthropology applicable to medicine

Theories developed by researchers in anthropology's sub-disciplines (archeology, biological anthropology, cultural anthropology and linguistics) can provide insights into practice when applied to treating chronic disease. Theories put forth general principles to explain or guide analysis of a phenomena (Moberg 2013). Broad theories used by anthropologists make generalizations like medical practitioners do when applying their knowledge base to a patient (e.g. prescribing medication that correlates with a patient's diagnosis or applying past patient experiences to a new patient). However, anthropological theories also lend themselves to understanding an individual. The blend and variety of approaches in anthropology discussed below can inform how medical practitioners can combine approaches for a more successful treatment of chronic diseases.

Tools like ethnography and considering the subjectivity of an individual in anthropology can help a medical practitioner's focus on a specific patient with a chronic disease.

Anthropologists recognize subjectivity, acknowledge preconceptions, and gather detailed information is the focus in anthropological research. Additionally, anthropologists sometimes place themselves in the group or individual they study (Barry 2005; Smith 1978; Whitehead 2002).

Because anthropology integrates a variety of methods that include tools found in social science and science, anthropology can offer valuable insights into care for chronic diseases. While practitioner's repertoire includes big picture scientific methods and facts (e.g. prescription drugs, MRIs, established diagnoses), practitioners lack methods that include a social science perspective and therefore more individualized viewpoints in practice and education (Cuff and Vanselow 2004; Lief and Fox 1963; Tabatabael, Yazdani and Sadeghi 2016). Medicine cannot be purely a science because medicine aims to promote health through the prevention and treatment of disease while science aims to acquire knowledge and evaluate theories not only connected with medicine (Munson 1981). As mentioned above, anthropology as a discipline was not always practiced in the most ethical ways, however combining positive qualities of biomedicine and anthropology can help practitioners make strides towards optimal care. Therefore, practitioners can learn from anthropology's combination of a variety of methods and theories to improve care for chronic conditions. An anthropological approach captures the complex nature of humans, whereas medical practitioners focused only on broader scientific findings can miss key details and nuances about an individual patient.

Ethnography as a tool to recognize all facets of illness

Ethnography can be employed when evaluating medical practices in order to identify causes of illness and treatments that are not always found or quantifiable in a biomedical model.

Anthropologists use ethnography to gather information through observation and interviews,

employing both qualitative and quantitative methods (Whitehead 2002). Ethnography can capture factors and measurements of a person's illness that are not purely quantitative, for example how a person's resources contribute to their illness or improvements in their condition such as the ability to do more around the house (Barry 2005). Biomedicine applies principles of the natural sciences, especially biology and biochemistry and is based on standard, protocols and algorithms (Lock and Gordon 1988; Lock and Nguyen 2018). Biomedicine often concentrates on generalized treatments to diseases and the application of research to diagnose and treat patients. Quantifiable measurements like blood pressure, x-rays, MRIs or heart rate are used.

Even with carefully designed scientific trials including large sample sizes, trials typically only measure a few symptoms or treatment effects (Barry 2005). In addition, health measurements often include a minimal number of factors and compared to population statistics for diagnoses and treatment. For example, Body Mass Index (BMI) is a number calculated from an individual's weight and height that places people into underweight (BMI < 18.5), healthy (BMI 18.5-24.9), overweight (BMI 25-29.9), obese (BMI > 30) categories (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Defining Adult Overweight and Obesity, n.d.). From these categories, many studies maintain that individuals who do not fall into the "healthy" BMI category have higher mortality rates (Cornani-Huntley et al. 1991; Diehr et al. 1998; Dowsey et al. 2018; Garrouste-Orgeas et al. 2004).

However, BMI does not consider fat or muscle composition, so people with a great deal of muscle may be classified as obese (Brierley et al. 2016; Rothman 2008). Olympic athletes, arguably at the peak of fitness and health, can have a range of BMIs that fall out of the healthy range: Laura Zeng-Rhythmic Gymnastics (16.8 BMI), Abdi Abdirahman-Track and Field distance runner (18.1 BMI), Emma Coburn-Track and Field 3,000m Steeplechase (18.2 BMI),

Chris Brooks-Artistic Gymnastics (25.1 BMI), Alfred A.G. Kruger-Track and Field Hammer Throw (31.6 BMI), Aretha Thurmond-Track and Field Discus Throw (33.7 BMI) (Team USA Rio 2016 Olympic Games, n.d.; USA Track & Field, n.d.). Furthermore, Gómez-Ambrosi et al. (2012) in a study of 6,123 subjects (924 lean, 1637 overweight, 3562 obese) found that 29% of people categorized as lean and 80% of people categorized as overweight had body fat levels associated with obesity. Since BMI does not take into account body composition, ancestry or gender, is it a generalized measurement that labels people at certain health risks regardless of their body type or lifestyle. These labels can be incorrect and lead to negative psychological consequences, of which Essayli et al. (2017) observed when they labeled healthy weight or overweight college women "overweight." While general measurements like BMI are useful and sometimes necessary, practitioners need to recognize their limits in diagnosing conditions and predispositions to disease. Sometimes, a wide variety of measurements, symptoms and treatments need to be considered instead.

Additionally, the results of scientific trails can be affected by social factors such as institutional racism and modern cultural ideals (Barry 2005). The underlying causes of human disease and treatments cannot always boil down to a specific statement or phenomena in the way that chemical formulas can. Many lifestyle, cultural and social factors can muddle the broad application of certain causes and treatments. For example, social determinants of health such as low socioeconomic status, historical racism or access to healthy foods are not incorporated into textbook type definitions of diagnoses and treatments for diseases, yet they have an impact on health (Farmer 2013; Farmer 2003; Farmer 1999; Gallagher 2010; Gluckman and Hanson 2004; Woolf et al. 2007).

Factors such as research trial funding, pharmaceutical influence, cost-effectiveness of treatments, or decisions of resource need to be realized as possible biases (Barry 2005). Furthermore, trials and research can be hard to generalize to a condition. For example, studies have found that 10% of people with hypertension have an uncomplicated version, so guidelines that were developed for these 10% do not apply to 90% of hypertension patients (Tudor-Hart 1993). Overall, studies that examine depression or stress call for more complex models of accessing types of heart disease (Steptoe and Whitehead 2005). It is essential to make generalizations, and use scientific methods for research, but only while considering other methods of treatment in follow-up research or specifically catered to an individual.

While a biomedical approach provides a basis for treatment, there are measures of treatment that are not purely physiological measurements. If a patient feels better, has the ability to do more around the house or does not feel as burdened by a chronic illness, these are all improvements that matter but cannot necessarily be measured physiologically (Radley 2002). Ethnography provides a device that can measure differences that are not purely biologically based. Anthropologists use ethnography to gain information about a culture through qualitative or quantitative methods like observation and interviews (Whitehead 2002). In the same way, these methods have potential for aiding in compiling information about an individual. These methods can provide medical evidence without a concentration on a direct scientific approach. Ethnography can incorporate features of interaction that will give the practitioner more information, because ethnographic research happens in real life settings with the observer situated in the context instead of researching from afar (Barry 2005). Because the focus of research is not completely predetermined and tightly structured, more potential for new interpretations that do not follow accepted phenomenon present themselves (O'Connor 2002).

Ethnographic research would offer valuable information about the interaction between a specific patient and their specific practitioner (Barry 2005). Because ethnography allows for other forms of acceptable evidence, it could be a valuable device to study causes and the effects of treatment that are not strictly biological or are biological but unable to be assessed through standard research protocols.

Evolutionary Theory and Medicine

Looking at chronic disease from an anthropological evolutionary standpoint can offer valuable insights in causes, treatments of disease and in the education of practitioners.

Anthropology strives to understand humans not just from present observations, but within an evolutionary framework such as in the field of primatology or paleoanthropology. Evolutionary theory can point to possible mismatches between how humans evolved and our current environment that can lead to chronic illness (Eaton, Konner, and Shostak 1988; Stearns and Medzhitov 2015; Stearns et al. 2010; Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). Evolutionary theory as it pertains to humans also embraces a biocultural model of evolution that examines the interplay between cultural and biological adaptations. Well-developed critiques of the biomedical model and how influential culture can be in treatments are also supported by evolutionary theory (Hood and Jenkins 2008; Trevathan, Smith, and Mckenna 2008). Ultimately including evolutionary theory within anthropology in medical practitioners' education and treatment research is capable of improving medicine in the United States.

Mismatches between evolved physiology and modern lifestyles

When considering chronic illness, evolutionary theory provides insight into whether a mismatch between evolution and environment contributes to the chronic medical condition.

Differences between our evolved physiology and the typical Western diet, sedentary lifestyles,

access to alcohol and nicotine, and high intake of processed fats and sugars have challenged our digestive system's ability to balance energy storage and consumption and therefore led to a variety of chronic conditions (Eaton, Konner, and Shostak 1988; Stearns and Medzhitov 2015; Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). These "mismatches" in modern food and exercise habits contribute to increases in conditions like type 2 diabetes, atherosclerosis, hypertension, some cancers, diverticular diseases, and osteoporosis (Eaton & Konner 1985; Eaton, Konner, and Shostak 1988). Additionally, the domestication of animals that have higher fat content than wild animals contributes to obesity, heart disease, cancers, cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes (Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). Furthermore, repeated exposure to toxins (e.g. air pollutants, smoking, metals in food) significantly increases the risk of cancer by placing proliferative and oxidative stress on tissues, damaging DNA and increasing the risk of frequency of mutations (Kampa and Castanas 2008; Lars 2003; Trevathan, Smith, and Mckenna 2008). Moreover, adaptation to hard exercise for travel and hunting or adaptations for unpredictable sodium and freshwater, may now be a factor contributing to heart disease with these realities reversed if the patient leads a more sedentary lifestyle (Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). Although we have been constructing our niche for a long time, "diseases of civilization" result because large factors in our current niche (e.g. sedentary lifestyle, high amounts of sodium in food) were constructed too recently for the possibility of beneficial adaptations to present themselves (Eaton, Konner, and Shostak 1988; Hood and Jenkins 2008; Stearns and Medzhitov 2015). While natural selection can act on chance genetic mutations to produce adaptations, selective pressures can change as environment changes and cause some adaptations that were beneficial to the human species to no longer act as beneficial, like efficiency in fat storage for

prolonged fasting and exercise. Although chronic medical conditions have a plethora of complex causes, evolutionary theory can provide a framework for understanding some phenomena.

Symptoms as by-products of larger health problems

Evolutionary theory's recognition of natural responses and defenses aids in understanding many processes of illness. Sometimes, discomforts like an itch, pain, or inflammation are part of the body's complexly evolved immune system (Hood and Jenkins 2008; Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). For example, researcher have suggested fever as a way to raise the body's temperature in order to block the activity of infectious agents (Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). Similarly, inflammation acts as an effective natural defense mechanism in our bodies (Powers and Howley 2015).

Inflammation removes damaged cells and tissues and allows tissue repair (Powers and Howley 2015). Without enough inflammation, tissue destruction can occur (Power and Howley 2015). However, too much inflammation can cause different diseases like periodontitis or rheumatoid arthritis. For this reason, the body carefully keeps inflammation in balance (Powers and Howley 2015). When exercising, structural damage to the muscle fibers occurs, followed by membrane damage, calcium leakage from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, protease activation, inflammatory response and then edema and pain (Powers and Howley 2015). Inflammation assists tissue remodeling and supports muscle building (Powers and Howley 2015).

However, while anti-inflammatory medicine has uses in alleviating injuries, there is the potential of unnecessarily use or misuse in order to decrease pain. The use of anti-inflammatory medicine can interfere with the body's natural inflammation. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are widely used but can create adverse side effects (Cryer et al. 2016, McGettigan and Henry 2013). For example, people with a high risk of cardiovascular diseases

should avoid NSAIDs because they can escalate the risk of strokes or heart attacks, specifically three drugs (rofecoxib, diclofenac, etoricoxib) which are correlated with cardiovascular risk (McGettigan and Henry 2013). Looking at symptoms such as inflammation as part of our evolved immune system can help find the problem that the symptom stems from instead of utilizing prescription drugs that could lead to other health complications.

Morning sickness is another example of a symptom that may be an evolved health benefit. During pregnancy, 75% of women experience "morning sickness", nausea and vomiting, and food such as poultry, eggs, fish, and meat evoke the strongest responses (Badell, Ramin, and Smith 2006; Hood and Jenkins 2008). Pathogens are most commonly found in these foods so morning sickness may be guarding against the embryo's exposure to these pathogens (Hood and Jenkins 2008). Moreover, morning sickness most commonly occurs in the first and third trimesters, when the embryo is at key developmental stages (Flaxman and Sherman 2000; Hood and Jenkins 2008). Therefore, morning sickness may protect the embryo from pathogens during key developmental stages.

Instead of treating any disturbances in the body as problems to immediately cure, some symptoms may help larger health problems. Medical treatments can make patients feel better in the short term, but this can result in targeting the body's own defenses that would benefit the person in the long run such as inflammatory responses (Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). Trevathan, Smith and McKenna (2008) maintain that an evolutionary perspective is crucial, because humans have developed a robust immunological defense system efficient for short-term problems like infectious diseases but remain vulnerable to the long-term progression of chronic disorders. Evolutionary medicine strives to not overemphasize one cause or treatment, and to avoid simplifying the complex process of chronic illness into one explanation (Trevathan, Smith,

and McKenna 2008). An evolutionary framework allows us to recognize symptoms that indicate larger problems, complex causes and treatments and how chronic conditions evolve.

An evolutionary framework can teach practitioners to look for a bigger picture including the "whats," "hows," and "whys." Arguably, medical textbooks are often limited to catalogues of clinically relevant information that lack explanation or information about the humans affected by the illnesses (Trevathan, Smith, and Mckenna 2008). It remains essential to delve into a framework that provides a broader outlook on a condition, rather than treating chronic illness with a list of relevant information that only considers the present condition instead of contextual information about the past or lifestyle. The holistic way that anthropologists look at human phenomena within the context of evolution helps to understand the bigger picture of a chronic illness.

The power of culture in mediating health and treatment

Evolutionary theory serves as a useful tool to examine the power of culture on biomedicine, sometimes seen as a purely scientific discipline. Many serious criticisms of the Western biomedical model involve the disregard of the patient's state of mind or the patient as an individual (Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). Evolutionary medicine provides an approach that better acknowledges the individual and culture. For example, culture's impact was exemplified when for half a century Western society's citizens, companies and scientists believed that artificial milk and formula were better than species-specific human milk (Feldman 2011; Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). However, breastfeeding contains nutrients for growth and an amount of immunity to diseases, and research suggest it may aid in social and cognitive development (American Academy of Pediatrics 2005; Feldman 2011; Ferguson and Molfese 2007; Gerrish and Menella 2000; Kramer et al 2008) In addition, suggestions like

sleeping away from infants and not breastfeeding are based on some Western cultural values and ideologies rather than scientific studies, and the suggestions do not consider evolutionarily adaptive behaviors (McKenna and Gettler 2015; Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008).

It also stands important to examine of the influence of culture on how ethnicity and "race" are used in research and clinical settings. For example, a study found a correlation between interpersonal racism in African American mothers' lives and low birthweight preterm infants, concluding that accumulated experiences of racial discrimination present a risk factor for preterm delivery (Collins et al. 2004). Additionally, accepted ideas about race has been heavily affected by a variety of traditions around science, politics, philosophy and other disciplines. Unconsciously scientists' ideas about social order, natural and social hierarchies, progress, purpose or the nature of race have defined what scientists study and the theories they put forth (Stepan 1982). Because medical records commonly report ethnicity and race, they are commonly used in tandem with genetic studies. However, "race" is not solely genetic and represents predispositions to disease, including historical differences in socioeconomic status, nutrition or cultural setting (Bloche 2004).

In these ways, culture exerts a powerful influence, even if biomedicine and science have a tendency to neglect it in their focus on empiricism and minimizing biases. Trevathan, Smith and Mckenna (2008) go as far to say that social and cultural context constrain any conceptual contribution of biology or medicine. Biomedical tools that are scientifically based should be applied, but only while recognizing cultural and social factors. Evolutionary theory within anthropology can be crucial in not only providing a historical context of adaptations, illness and symptoms, but in recognizing the power of culture. Practitioners employ biomedicine for

scientific information but need to also recognize factors that are not generalized about an individual or a culture's effect.

<u>Inequalities</u>, <u>Structural Violence and Human Rights in Health Care</u>

The commodification of health in the United States has detrimental effects for many demographics. The American idea of the free-market as the ideal system to drive the distribution of goods and services cannot be transferred to medicine (Pellegrino 1999). Because the commodification of health reflects the capitalist system, it emphasizes reductionism in medicine and interferes holistic practice acceptance (McKee 1988). Medicine treats a human condition or disease, and therefore intertwined with individual trust, ethics and common good and serves those interests instead of the self-interests of physicians, insurance plans or investors (Pellegrino 1999). This commodification of healthcare holds that inequalities of services and treatments are not the responsibility of the free market and that inequalities are unfortunate but not unjust (Pellegrino 1999). Overall, the commodification of healthcare makes us question whether we see healthcare as a basic human right (Farmer 2003).

Addressing additional problems with the United States healthcare system, structural violence can have powerful effects on who gets sick and their treatment. Structural violence can include racism, addiction, lack of insurance, lack of employment, lack of stable housing and domestic violence (Farmer 2003). Poverty and racism can exacerbate dire outcomes for sick people because it can restrict access to treatments or make treatments less effective if the patients struggle with substance abuse or are malnourished (Farmer 1999). For example, a study comparing mortality rates between people with lesser education and college-educated people concluded that eight times as many deaths would have been avoided from 1996 to 2002 if the population with inadequate education had the same mortality rate as the population with higher

education (Woolf et al. 2007). In this study, education stood in for socioeconomic status, because the two often remain closely correlated (Woolf et al. 2017).

Additionally, poverty interferes with a patient's ability to comply with drug regimes, and overestimation of ability to comply while underestimation of constraint happens (Farmer et al. 2013). Not only can structural violence and social factors inhibit access to treatments, but they also can limit ability to comply and the effectiveness of the treatments. These inequalities translate into predispositions to illnesses and "fundamentally social forces and processes come to be embodied as biological events (Farmer 1999: 14)." While seemingly non-compliant patients are difficult to work with or motivate, understanding structural violence and constraints the patient may have can help the practitioner to tailor treatments to meet their constraints. Some patients are hard to motivate but placing treatments within their reach ensures that patients have the choice to comply, instead of placing treatment plans outside of their resources.

Besides structural violence, other factors should be examined during diagnosis and treatment. Cultural norms around high levels of stress or lack of social support can put people at risk for disease (Cohen, Gianaros, and Manuck 2016; Dressler 1979). For example, depression, hypertension and arteriosclerosis, along with cardiovascular disease in general are diseases influenced by negative emotions and stressors (Bacon 2018; Dressler 1979). Furthermore, local religious practices can affect whether people seek care and follow treatments prescribed (Farmer et al. 2013). For example, traditional healing practices in Africa conclude that a person infected with malaria has been possessed, and this belief could interfere with treatment, since the belief holds that they will die when taken to the hospital (Maslove et al. 2009). Beliefs need to be taken into consideration to address how they could affect diagnosis and treatment. Conversely, in the United States, "medical militarization" urges Americans to fight a disease head-on (e.g. a

common phrase around breast cancer is "fight like a girl" or the reference to the "fight against AIDS") instead of using the social, political and economic conditions that can influence the disease (Lock and Gordon 1988). The incorporation of culture and beliefs is key rather than only using a purely science-based approach.

Anthropologists can help understand these social factors and advocate for consideration of such factors in medicine. While biomedicine has made extensive scientific progress, social roots have been neglected (Farmer 1999). Warm and caring rapport is necessary for effective care and can help to level the "experience-distant" models of sociology, political science and economics (Farmer 1999). In general, medicine, public health and the social sciences together offer a great deal to contribute to debates on human rights (Farmer 2003). Scholarly work must examine dynamics of health, the effects of war and political-economic disruption on health, and the pathogenic effects of social inequalities like racism and gender inequality can have over a life time (Farmer 2003; Gluckman and Hanson 2004). These multidisciplinary approaches can help to elucidate social factors on a broader scale, but also help practitioners to think about these factors in everyday practice. Farmer cites the valuable asset anthropology can provide in understanding social and cultural factors in health care and for examining how to make medical care more humane.

Narrative and Humanistic Medicine

Narrative and humanistic medical models can inform medical practice surrounding chronic illness in the United States. While these two models are different schools of thought, each advocate for practitioner's fostering skills to recognize aspects of an individual's disease. Both models strive to incorporate more information about the individual instead of relying on objective diagnoses. Narrative medicine cultivates listening and interpretation skills to

understand the patient's illness experience. Humanistic medicine emphasizes the patient as a whole person, fighting the fragmentation of the patient's body part into separate part instead of an integrated whole. These models offer tools for medical practitioners that follow an anthropological approach, striving to refrain from making generalizations and biases initially. In both humanistic and narrative medicine, knowledge accumulation happens in the same process knowledge is acquired in ethnography, and information that is not purely biological measurements can be compiled.

Anthropology and Foucault's Medical Gaze and Biopower

The idea of incorporating the whole body into practice connects with methods used by anthropologists to regard people as individuals. Instead of objectifying or separating out a diseased part, narrative and humanistic medicine strive to understand specific factors about the individual. These approaches reflect the term "medical gaze," coined by Michel Foucault. Foucault (1963) maintained that devices that made it possible to analyze the body also created a power structure between practitioner and client. Foucault's "medical gaze" referred to the separation of a patient's body from the actual person. The physician analyzes the patient in an objective approach, looking for signs that lend themselves to finding a cause and treatment for the illness (Foucault 1963). Using modern imaging technology like x-rays and MRIs remains helpful and even crucial, but they add to medical gaze that does not see the patient as an individual. This medical gaze defines the patient as their illness rather than as a person. For example, if a practitioner stereotypes a heart disease patient from their cholesterol levels and body weight index instead of considering the specific patient's lifestyle and constraints, the practitioner applies disease information without considering the patient. Similarly, relying too much on an MRI image when treating a herniated disk can neglect information about the

patient's lifestyle that lead to the herniated disk. While technology and a scientific knowledge base are essential, it is also important to shed the medical gaze in order to realize the patient as an individual.

Furthering this concept, Foucault's term "biopower," refers to how power manages large groups of people (Foucault 1984). He applied this theory to public health, asserting the possibility that risks of groups are controlled in health practice. Examples of biopower can include conventional ideas of well-being or health as well as cultural norms like reproductive or hospital practices. Theories presented by narrative and humanistic medicine that call for a humanizing approach in order to understand the patient reflect ideas about medical gaze as a dehumanizing force and biopower putting some groups at a greater health risk. In this aspect, anthropology can help to understand the individual by taking into account the medical gaze and biopower.

Narrative Medicine

Narrative medicine aims to recognize culture and the individual and tries to combat objectivity by incorporating subjectivity into medical practice. A narrative practitioner strives to understand the unique and complex story of a patient's illness (Charon et al. 2016). Medicine could be purely biochemical or physiological, however it remains impossible to take away cultural images and meaning intertwined with the patient's experience and the practitioner (Sontag 1970). In other words, medicine cannot be purely objective, because cultural elements are deeply connected with how a patient experiences their illness, and in how the practitioner carries out care. Each patient with a serious illness has a complex combination of personal, religious, cultural, and media-based beliefs about their condition, which can be either positive or negative, and they can contribute to the healing process or delay it (Coulehan 2003). Attention

needs to be paid to cultural factors in order to deliver effective care for chronic illnesses. The emotions and beliefs of patients have been documented as significant in psychoneuroimmunological studies to treatment, which displays the importance of examining cultural factors. (Pert 1999). If we champion a philosophy of medicine that rests on the belief that medicine rests above or beyond culture, the practitioner's quality of care is reduced (Coulehan 2003).

However, biological approaches stand critical to many aspects of care. In this way, narrative medicine and approaches that consider culture help to tailor treatment to an individual. For example, the prescription of mindfulness medication has garnered criticism from patients and professionals alike, because of the spread of misinformation around mindfulness meditation and its replacement for forms of treatment like psychotherapy (Van Dam et al. 2018). Both culture and biology are important to consider when treating a patient, but ultimately listening to and understanding the patient's concerns in diagnosis and treatment is principal.

Additionally, narrative medicine points out how technological advancements can hinder practitioners. Those who work in the medical field need to be careful not to replace communicative and symbolic interactions with purely scientific interactions (Habermas 1970). While scientific information is key, gaining information about a certain individual's case and encouraging patient compliance requires human interaction. As highly social creatures, interpersonal communication is paramount for every aspect of human personal development (Feldman 2011; Konner 2002). For example, Charon describes a case where a patient burst into tears after talking with her, because a medical professional had never taken the time to communicate with her about her illness (Charon 2008). Health care practice needs to hold this social aspect of human nature as a high priority. The patient-physician relationship should be a

fundamental aspect of any care situation (Gallagher 1978). An individual's culture and conception of their illness cannot be separated from their diagnosis. Therefore, realizing how intertwined an individual's subjective experience and culture are with their chronic illness is valuable. Medical practitioners in narrative medicine strive to include the patient's culture and subjectivity into their treatment.

Narrative medicine employs devices to understand the subjectivity of a patient's experience. These devices include cultivating the capacity to understand, listening skills, refraining from objectification, observation skills or general communication skills. These valuable devices for narrative practitioners can be cultivated by practicing close reading skills in order to understand the unique patient before them (Charon et al. 2016). The goal of the narrative practitioner includes cultivating the skill to receive the story of the patient and to recognize, absorb, interpret and to feel moved to action by their story (Charon et al 2016). Ignoring the subjective factors leads to an objectification of the patient that does not consider the real-life contexts of their illness (Mishler 1985). Practitioners are taught to be emotionally detached, which can interfere with their ability to cure (Coulehan 2003). Emotional detachment stems from medicine's tendency to strive for universality and replicability, which mutes doctors' ability to realize the power of singularity, observation and description (Charon 2008). However, the accuracy of scientific observations rarely needs to be disputed in medicine; instead, the narrow focus of interest to only biological facts needs to be contested (Charon 2008).

Medical professionals should accept a person's singularity as a bonus to effective care but not as a risk to objectivity (Charon 2008). Understanding the individual does not need to replace a scientific approach, but instead fostering and applying skills that will improve recognizing a person's singularity along with practical skills will provide the most effective care.

The medical profession should strive to combine tenderness with steadiness (Leake 1975). Skills like humanism, professionalism, communication, evidence-based practice and social responsibility should be merged to provide effective care (Coulehan 2003). A practitioner's ability to use a patient's information depends on their interpretive accuracy, absorptive powers, characterological tendencies, the doctor-patient relationship and their bank of similar accounts and related experiences (Charon 2008). Within narrative training, clinical imagination, empathy, awareness of ethics and attention have been suggested as valuable traits to cultivate (Charon 2008). Overall, developing these narrative skills will help supplement objective practice with subjective information about the individual.

Humanistic Medicine

Humanistic medicine strives to maintain human interactions in medical practice and to refrain from viewing patients as composed of mechanical parts (Marcum 2008). Instead of looking at disease as a malfunctioning part, humanistic medicine maintains that diagnosis should incorporate culture, the whole person, and experiences of illness (Marcum 2008). Humanistic medicine, along with narrative medicine and Foucault's theoretical framework, provides insights into United States health care problems by emphasizing the individual. These frameworks mirror anthropological practices like ethnography that can garner a rich amount of information about an individual.

In medical practice, it is important to think of a person's chronic illness not as a diseased part that makes the body malfunction. Instead, the key is to look at disease in a whole-body sense. In the prevailing biomedical model, the patient is reduced to a physical body like a machine, made up of individual body parts separate from any background or framework (Marcum 2008). In this model, the physician's job is to use the latest scientific and technological

advances to treat or replace the body part while remaining emotionally detached (Marcum 2003). While practitioners do not always embody this emotional detachment that Marcum (2003) posits, sometimes it persists as a salient trend in some disciplines (i.e. cancer treatment or surgeons who briefly see patient) of medical practice. This mechanistic outlook reflects the values of objectivity, precision and standardization in biomedicine (McWhinney, 1978). However, the actual person vanishes in the gaze of the physician when the body is broken down into a collection of parts (MacIntyre 1979). The outer body of the patient becomes transparent with the combination of the medical gaze and gaze of machines for diagnosis (Toombs 1993). This view leads toward privileging what technology says about the diseased part over what patients say. Practitioners often trust the findings of machines over what the patient says about their illness (Marcum 2008). In addition, biomedical practitioners have a tendency to assume a superior position without translating medical jargon and concepts to the patient (Marcum 2008).

With as many as 80% of patients in the public hospital settings lacking health literacy, more than 40 million Americans are estimated to have poor health literacy (Kirsch et al. 1993; Williams et al. 2002). Patients have trouble understanding consent documents, medication directions, and vocabulary such as "orally", "malignant" or "terminal," each in the top 50 most commonly used health words in physician-patient interviews (Samora, Saunders, and Larson 1961; Williams et al. 2002). Additionally, Davis et al. (2001) found that words used in cancer screening like "polyp", "lesion", "tumor", "screening" and "colon" were poorly understood. The results the researchers found exemplify the need to ensure patients understand the jargon and concepts put forth by practitioners.

Contrary to the current biomedical model, humanistic medicine views the patient as a person within a socio-economic environment and cultural background. The patient represents not

just a sum of separate parts, but instead has properties that surpass the summation of those parts (Marcum 2008). Instead of treating the patient as a diseased body part, practitioners need to realize the whole person including other dimensions of the patient that are not just physical (Switankowsky 2000). Humanistic medicine sees the patient an integrated whole within their environment, including psychological or spiritual effects (Marcum 2008). This approach can aid in finding the causes of a chronic disease for a certain patient. Biomedical practitioners often subscribe to the idea that people with the same disease have the same illness or sickness. But the majority of diseases are not caused by any one factor but due to multiple causes (Rizzi and Pederson 1992). Instead of a generalization, medical practitioners should incorporate environment, culture and multiple causes into diagnosis and treatment of each individual person.

To gather complete medical information, practitioners need to approach the patient as a person with multiple factors contributing to their illness including environment and culture. Fatal errors can result when the practitioner does not comprehensively understand the patient. Medical error stands the eighth leading cause of death in the United States (Zhang et al 2004). These mistakes can come in a variety of forms including representative, attributive, and affective errors (Marcum 2008). Representative error can happen when practitioners apply a stereotype to a disease, such as not as readily diagnosing a heart attack to a person who appears to be fit (Marcum 2008). Attribution error occurs when a practitioner notices a lifestyle behavior and attributes the disease to this behavior, like assuming a patient has liver cirrhosis if they smell of alcohol (Marcum 2008). Affective errors can occur when the practitioner avoids a diagnosis because they are fond of a patient (Marcum 2008). Developing accurate communication, interpretation and observation skills that a narrative and humanistic practitioner has will help in

avoiding these errors. While generalization and a bank of knowledge are necessary for diagnosis, listening to an individual patient's case helps to avoid errors.

Considering this further, humanistic medicine maintains the importance of realizing the patient's whole human experience with their emotions, and to including the patient as an active participant into practice. Emotions and intuitions can be combined with the biomedical model in order to access information that may not be found in quantified data like laboratory results (Marcum 2008). In a similar way, with the patient involved in the healing process, better outcomes are reachable. In humanistic medicine the patient acts as an informed cognitive agent (Marcum 2008). Contrary to biomedical paternalism, informed and involved patient will become active participants and will be able to work with the medical practitioner for their own healing. Employing emotions and collaborating with the patient can work towards effective care that incorporates not just quantitative information but other factors as well.

Many students in medical professions enter the field with a desire to help people, but instead are taught to distance their emotions, which can lead to burnout (Remen 2002). Instead of stifling the human interaction and emotional parts of practice, these aspects should be fostered as a way to garner more information from a patient. While a practitioner honing their skills to gather a patient's narrative provides access to new information, it does not necessarily lead to the affective errors that happen when practitioners are fond of the patient. Practitioners that have effectively developed their narrative skills are able to gain information from their patients without letting affection interfere with their diagnosis and treatment. Practitioners can use human interaction and emotion to understand a variety of factors about the patient without missing diagnoses or becoming blinded by affection. Viewing the body as a whole will help to understand patients in their many contexts and nuances, instead of just as a diseased body part.

Overall, an integration of different factors about the specific patient with an extensive base of medical knowledge will ensure a sound medical decision (Kassirer et al. 1998).

How alternative medicine could supplement biomedicine

When considering ways to provide optimal medical care, intersections between biomedicine and other forms of care must be regarded. While the exact definition of alternative care remains controversial, the rough definition follows as medical treatments that are used instead of traditional or mainstream therapies and are not currently considered part of conventional medicine, including remedies such as massage therapy, magnet therapy, spiritual healing, herbal medicine, acupuncture or chiropractic medicine (Angell and Kassirer 1998; U.S. National Library of Medicine, n.d.; Web MD: What Exactly is Alternative Medicine?, n.d). Knowledge about alternative care can be necessary in treatments to avoid negative interactions between forms of care people receive like alternative remedies or medications that can interfere with conventional prescriptions (Ben-Arye et al. 2015). In addition, alternative care should be integrated into biomedical practice so that social and cultural factors are also considered in the various treatments provided. Competition between traditional or alternative medicine and biomedicine exists worldwide and therefore it remains crucial to study both and their integration in medical anthropology (Adler 2002; Logan and Hunt 1978; Wardle and Adams 2014).

Various approaches to medicine can and have been utilized in conjunction with the scientific evidence focused healthcare system. Ignoring alternative medicine poses potential conflicts between therapies that could be dangerous. For example, researchers assessing interactions around cancer found herbal medicines that people were taking interfered with anticancer drugs and the response of cancers cells to chemotherapy (Ben-Arye et al. 2015). Without quality communication, modern western medicine practitioners cannot know about

dangerous interactions between prescriptions from different practices (Coulter and Willis 2004; Wardle and Adams 2014). With the potential for many patients to be using alternative medicine, medical practitioners need to be aware of interactions between a patient's other forms of treatments. A 2000 study found that 52.1% of participants used at least one non-medically prescribed alternative medicine (excluding calcium, iron and prescribed vitamins), that 23.3% visited at least one alternative practitioner and that 57.2% of users had not told their doctor. The most common alternative practitioners listed included acupuncturists, reflexologists, aromatherapists and herbal therapists. If practitioners do not know the alternative treatments a patient is consuming, treatments could interfere with biomedical treatments, for example some herb usages are listed as risk factors for heart disease and could react with biomedical heart disease treatments (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). Most respondents that used alternative medicines noted that a standardization of product information and content would be helpful (MacLennan et al 2002).

In another study of integration, patients of traditional medical practitioners and hospitals interviewed about how western medicine and traditional practices fit together in Ngaoundere, Cameroon. While Cameroon's healthcare system is very different the United States' healthcare system, patients concerns and opinions about balancing traditional practices and hospitals applies to populations in the U.S. that employ alternative medical practices. Most of the patients interviewed believed that the two had different strengths, which they balanced when deciding where to obtain medical help. Furthermore, the majority believed that health professions should play a larger role in the integration of the two by understanding both types better (Hardy 2008). With these results and the prevalence of alternative care usage, practitioners need to ask about what alternative forms of care a patient receives.

An ethnographic approach facilitates this holistic view on the patient's condition, including the information about their alternative medicine usage. Through observation and interview skills the practitioner gains knowledge about alternative medicine used and the patient's beliefs. The practice of narrative medicine develops the listening and interpreting skills necessary to include this information in diagnosis, while practicing humanistic medicine maintains the patient's individual experience with alternative and western medicine.

In the past, western culture has incorporated acupuncture, chiropractors, Ayurvedic medicine and others into practice which have become integrated and commonly used with western medicine (Coulter and Willis 2004). Integrations like these can make western medicine more holistic and can lead to more comprehensive health care. An example of a successful integration of holistic medicine with western medical science comes from the Navajo community (Coulehan 2003). According to Navajo customs, illness results from disharmony with the self, family, clan or the Navajo Way (Coulehan 2003). Traditional healing ceremonies incorporate a great deal of family interaction and a complex symbolism (Coulehan 2003). While working with Navajo communities, Coulehan (2003) observed successful incorporations of modern western medicine into their extant systems. For example, antibiotics were believed to alleviate the symptoms of pneumonia, but not to solve the disharmony that made the person fall ill in the first place. In these ways, the Navajo assimilated western procedures but kept symbolic meaning beyond the instrumental effects of the medicine (Coulehan 2003). The coalescence presented here serves as an example of an integration of alternative practices that also recognizes cultural and social factors and beliefs.

An open mind to forms of care that are not biomedical only will avoid potential conflicts and allow more incorporation of alternative practice aspects into U.S. practice. These

incorporations should be studied and assisted by anthropologists who understand cultural and social factors and measurements of alternative medicine effects that are not purely biological. An alternatively trained practitioner's knowledge system relates more closely to types of anthropology like ethnography than science-based medicine because it relates more to the phenomenal world of a person's everyday lived and embodied experience (Barry 2005). Evidence supporting the effectiveness of a treatment does not only consist of biomedical and scientific criteria for alternative practitioners, but includes whether the treatment affects the body, beliefs, social and cultural experiences of the client (Barry 2005). For example, an ethnographic study of a Chi Gung exercise class found that clients saw western medicine as alienating and too focused on reductionism (Busby 1999). The clients found that Chi Gung aligned more with their everyday interactions, life experiences and the nature of their body, instead of biomedicine's mechanistic view (Busby 1999). Similar to this study, ethnographic evidence can help to quantify alternative medicine's benefits, including the root of illness, view of self, relationship with therapist or transformational experiences (Barry 2005).

Heart Disease as an example

Heart disease remains the leading cause of death in the United States. About 630,000 Americans die each year from heart disease, which translates to 1 out of every 4 deaths in the United States annually (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics 2016). Between the cost of healthcare services, medications and lost productivity, heart disease costs the United States about \$200 billion each year (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics 2016). The evolution of scientific medicine has enormously benefited the treatment of heart disease, markedly adding to physiological understanding with electrocardiology and visualization with isotope scanning (Weatherall et al.

2006). Current research has developed medicines for the management of heart disease like betablockers, diuretics, antihypertensive agents or calcium-channel blockers (Weatherall et al. 2006).

Although advancements in modern science have aided the understanding of and treatment for heart disease, this chronic disease remains the leading cause of mortality in the United States. Additionally, cardiovascular disease and its risk factors follow health disparities along education level, socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity in the United States (Mensah et al. 2005). Anthropology can help individual practitioners recognize and address these disparities in cardiovascular disease. Heart disease exemplifies how the consumption of high-end diagnostic tools and prescriptions, along with financial investment do not directly translate to a positive health output in the United States currently. Instead, combining these medical advancements with the anthropological devices presented above can help the delivery of care towards heart disease patients in the United States.

Background information about heart disease and risk factors

Heart disease (or cardiovascular disease) includes a variety of conditions affecting the heart, such as blood vessel disease, heart rhythm problems or congenital heart defects (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). These conditions can include narrowed or blocked blood vessels which have the potential to lead to chest pain, a heart attack, or stroke (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). Professionals encourage people to seek medical attention if they have chest pain, shortness of breath or fainting (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). Additionally, professionals suggest people talk to a doctor if they have any concerns or a family history of heart disease, because doctors are able to more effectively treat heart disease when detected early (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.).

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), high blood pressure, high low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, and smoking persist as the leading heart disease risk factors, and about half of all Americans have at least one of these three risk factors. (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Million Hearts: strategies to reduce the prevalence of leading cardiovascular disease risk factors, n.d.). The CDC also notes that other medical conditions and lifestyle choices can put people at a higher risk for heart disease, namely: diabetes, obesity, poor diet, physical inactivity and excessive alcohol use (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Heart Disease Fact Sheet, n.d.). The Mayo Clinic adds age, sex (if male), family history, excessive use of caffeine, drug abuse, some over the counter medicine and herbal remedies, stress and poor hygiene to this list (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). The U.S. Department of Health & Human Services National Institutes of Health (NIH) includes these factors but also adds anemia, sleep apnea, and birth control pills paired with smoking and metabolic syndrome (United States Department of Health & Human Services, n.d.). As opposed to these United States sources, the World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (WHO-Europe) adds socioeconomic group, mental health and globalization and urbanization as risk factors (World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, n.d.). Refer to Table 1 below for a synopsis of risk factors presented on the websites.

Table 1: Risk factors listed on website organizations

Organization	Risk Factors Listed
American Heart Association	Major risk factors that can't be changed:
	increasing age, male sex (gender), heredity
	(including race)
	Major risk factors you can modify, treat or
	control: tobacco smoke, cholesterol levels
	(total, less LDL, more HDL, less
	triglycerides), high blood pressure, physical

	inactivity, obesity and overweight, diabetes		
	mellitus		
	Other factors that contribute to heart disease		
	risk: stress, alcohol, diet and nutrition		
CDC	High blood pressure, high low-density LDL		
	cholesterol, smoking, other medical		
	conditions such as diabetes, obesity poor diet,		
	physical inactivity, excessive alcohol use		
Mayo Clinic	Age, sex (male), family history, smoking,		
	certain chemotherapy drugs and radiation		
	therapy for cancer, poor diet, high blood		
	pressure, high blood cholesterol levels,		
	diabetes, obesity, physical inactivity, stress		
	and poor hygiene, some over the counter		
	medicine and herbal remedies		
United States Department of Health & Human	Smoking, high blood cholesterol and high		
Services (NIH)	triglyceride levels, high blood pressure,		
	diabetes and prediabetes, overweight and		
	obesity, birth control pills paired with		
	smoking and metabolic syndrome, lack of		
	physical activity, unhealthy diet, stress or		
	depression, anemia, sleep apnea, age and		
	menopause, family history		
WebMD	Risk factors not listed		
WHO-Europe	Genetic make-up, mental health, diet,		
	overweight and obesity, tobacco, alcohol,		
	diabetes, socioeconomic group, mental health,		
	globalization and urbanization		

Many of these websites, like the Mayo Clinic and especially the CDC, list a limited amount of risk factors. However, the WHO-Europe website recognizes additional risk factors that could have a large impact on who develops heart disease and lists factors that affect the effectiveness of treatment. Acknowledging these risk factors and incorporating them into treatment for heart disease is how ethnographic skills that consider a broader amount of information can improve medical practice for heart disease. Cultivating narrative and humanistic skills will help the practitioner to recognize these risk factors when diagnosing and treating a patient.

United States heart disease treatment

The CDC funds a national program called State Public Health Actions that provides funding to the 50 states and DC to help prevent heart disease, obesity, and associated risk factors. In accordance with the funding, the CDC website states that each state must take these actions:

- Promote the adoption of food service guidelines and nutrition standards, which include sodium levels.
- Promote the adoption of physical education and physical activity in schools.
- Promote the adoption of physical activity in early child care centers, schools, and work sites.
- Promote reporting of blood pressure and A1C measures; and as able, initiate activities
 that promote clinical innovations, team-based care, and self-monitoring of blood
 pressure.
- Promote awareness of high blood pressure among patients.
- Promote awareness of prediabetes among people at high risk for type 2 diabetes.
- Promote participation in American Diabetes Association-recognized, American Association of Diabetes Educators-accredited, state-accredited/certified, and Stanford licensed Diabetes Self-Management Education programs. (CDC's State Public Health Actions to Prevent and Control Diabetes, Heart Disease, Obesity and Associated Risk Factors and Promote School Health, n.d.)

Additionally, the CDC website states that 32 states receive resources to take further actions related to cardiovascular disease:

- Increase access to healthy foods and beverages and supportive nutrition environments.
- Increase implementation of quality improvement processes in health systems and use of team-based care in health systems.
- Increase use of health-care extenders in support of self-management of high blood pressure. (CDC's State Public Health Actions to Prevent and Control Diabetes, Heart Disease, Obesity and Associated Risk Factors and Promote School Health, n.d.)

Treatment for coronary heart disease (the most common heart disease) may include medicines, lifestyle changes (pertaining to smoking, diet, exercise, weight and stress), medical and surgical procedures, and cardiac rehabilitation (United States Department of Health & Human Services, n.d.). WebMD lists cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), stents, angioplasty and stents, heart bypass surgery, valve disease treatment, cardioversion, enhanced external counterpulsation (EECP), pacemakers, implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICD), lead extraction, left

ventricular assist device (LVAD) and heart transplant as possible treatments for heart disease (WebMD, n.d.). In addition, WebMD names 12 medicines to help with heart disease. The only other information on the website includes article links to "Plant-Based Diet for Heart Health," "Recovery After Heart Surgery," and "Finding Strength During Tough Times (WebMD, n.d.)." The Mayo Clinic lists lifestyle changes, medication and medical procedures or surgery as treatments for heart disease (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). The motto on the American Heart Association website reads "Eat Smart. Add Color. Move More. Be Well." On their website, tabs are included to help with healthy eating, physical activity, healthy children, weight management, stress management, quitting smoking and workplace health solutions (American Heart Association, n.d.). Refer to Table 2 below for a synopsis of information presented on the websites.

Table 2: Listed website treatments for heart disease by organization

Organization	Lifestyle Treatments	Other Treatments
American Heart Association	Tabs on website include: healthy eating, physical activity, healthy child, weight management, stress management, quitting smoking, and workplace solutions	Medication
CDC	Treatments not listed	Treatments not listed
Mayo Clinic	Lifestyle changes	Medication and medical procedures or surgery
United States Department of Health & Human Services (NIH)	Smoking, diet, exercise, weight, stress	Medication
WebMD	Links to articles on "Plant- Based Diet for Heart Health," "Recovery After Heart Surgery," and "Finding Strength During Tough Times."	CPR, stents, angioplasty and stents, heart bypass surgery valve disease treatment, cardioversion, EECP, pacemakers, ICD, lead extraction, LVAD, heart transplant, 12 medicines listed

WHO-Europe	Reductions in mean	For people at high risk,
	cholesterol concentration,	combination drug therapy
	smoking prevalence and	
	blood pressure levels,	
	focusing on a combination of	
	risk factors at once	

The importance of lifestyle in heart disease

Despite a variety of available treatments, heart disease remains fundamentally a lifestyle disease. Many of the risk factors such as smoking, physical activity, diet, alcohol use, caffeine use, drug use, poor hygiene, some herbal remedies usage or stress levels could be mitigated with lifestyle changes. For example, an eight-year study of German individuals found that four behaviors (smoking, diet, physical activity and maintenance of a BMI <30) accounted for a 78% variance of risk for a serious chronic disease (Ford et al. 2009). In addition, the adoption of at least one of these healthy behaviors decreased the chronic disease risk by half (Ford et al. 2009). Because these lifestyle changes are important, adjusting and addressing many of these factors takes a skilled practitioner who can communicate effectively with the patient and work with them to adjust to a healthy lifestyle.

Although the Mayo Clinic, NIH and CDC mention many risk factors related to unhealthy lifestyle, the number of lifestyle treatments listed is disproportionate to the number of treatments listed that involve medical intervention such as surgery or medicine. For example, the NIH mentions lifestyle changes but spends a greater amount of time describing other types of treatments such as medicines or surgeries. WebMD, a resource that many use for medical information in the United States, does not mention any treatments that relate to lifestyle, although twelve treatments are listed. While medical treatments sometimes require more explanation than lifestyle changes, emphasis on lifestyle changes in treatment remains critical.

Some may argue that lifestyle changes come from the patient, yet many patients do not understand the importance of a healthy lifestyle and its long-term benefits in disease prevention. Most observers agree on the importance of improved education concerning healthy behavior and chronic disease management, but individuals also need to know how the importance of crucial participation and engagement to their health (Adams 2010). A study finding that financial incentives (being entered into a lottery for money) encouraged correct medication taking compliance concluded that short-term positive reinforcement could help patients internalize long-term benefits (Volpp et al. 2008). Practitioners can serve to explain long-term benefits and encourage short-term incentives through communicating with and educating their patients. In addition, Langer and Irving Janis (1979) found letting nursing home residents make decisions and control aspects of their daily activities lead to happier individuals. The group that was able to make choices also had a lower mortality rate than the control group (Langer and Irving Janis 1979). Educating patients about positive lifestyle choices and medications will allow them to better control and engage in aspects of their treatment process. In order to educate a patient on the long-term effects of lifestyle changes, clear communication from the practitioner tailored to each individual patient's life is necessary.

This communication between the practitioner and patient should be aimed at educating the patient on their condition. While patients are not always complaint, ensuring that patients are educated on their condition and treatment will at least give the patient the tools to be complaint. Without this education, patients do not understand how to be complaint in the first place. Additionally, just this communication and relationship with the doctor may increase the patient's motivation to carry out lifestyles changes or other forms of treatment. During a study of patients with congenital heart diseases in Belgium, more than 80% showed high understanding of their

disease by correctly answering questions relating to their disease treatment, frequency of follow up, dental practices, occupational choices and appropriateness of oral contraceptives (Moons et al. 2001). Between 50-80% knew the name and anatomy of the heart defect, the possibility of recurrent episodes of endocarditis (infection of the heart's inner lining) and the appropriateness of different physical activities. Less than 50% of participants answered correctly when asked the reasons for follow up, symptoms of deterioration of the heart disease, characteristics and risk factors of endocarditis, and the impact of smoking and alcohol on their condition. Overall, the study concluded that the adults have "important gaps in their knowledge about their condition [congenital heart disease]" and suggested educational interventions to better patient's health behavior (Moons et al. 2001: 74). The results from this study in Belgium are just as relevant for practitioners in the United States to consider when administering care for heart disease patients.

Overall, heart disease management must include education, especially because lifestyle constitutes such a big factor in heart disease. In educating the patient about their medical condition one should consider their health literacy and patient's ability to change lifestyle (Adams 2010). Practitioners experience difficulty in determining the health literacy of each patient and overestimate their literacy (Kelly and Haidet 2007; Weiss 2007). However, conducting assessments on a sample of patients could present as helpful to know the general health literacy of the population a practitioner treats (Weiss 2007). Practitioner's tailoring communication to the individual patient is beneficial whether communicating on the telephone, in-person or via text (Kane 2009). An anthropological lens can help the practitioner better educate patients by understanding the patient before them.

The benefit of anthropology in health care applied to heart disease

The value of ethnography as a way of accurately assessing a cardiac patient's condition presents remarkable potential for heart disease treatment. Conventional statistical measures cannot always measure vital lifestyle changes and improvements for heart health. For example, it is difficult to measure smoking cessation, changing diet, lowering stress levels, increasing exercise, or limiting alcohol, drugs and caffeine physiologically in the short term. However, ethnography can measure the differences patients make in their lives and habits. Additionally, whether the patient feels better and healthier during the day holds meaningful information but the practitioner cannot measure this information without talking to the patient.

To communicate and explain their diagnosis and treatment to the patient narrative and humanistic medical skills are employed. Not only can these tactics garner information from the patient about health improvements not measurable physiologically, they can help build a patient-physician relationship. A better relationship will help bridge educational gaps in the patient's knowledge and better equip the practitioner to understand the lifestyle contributions to the patient's heart disease. Understanding a patient's lifestyle is imperative to determining heart disease treatment. While time or insurance constrains practice, Charon (2008) argues that listening to the patient and developing narrative skills can be carried out within this fast-paced environment. With practice, medical practitioners can train themselves to recognize important aspects of a patient's illness not displayed in biological measurements. These skills will facilitate the patient-physician relationship, which will give the physician access to a variety of factors affecting the patient's condition. With this relationship, the patient will learn more about their condition through better patient-physician communication.

A strong relationship and communication can also aid in determining any social or ethical constraints and factors which could affect the patient's heart disease treatment. For example, it is difficult for a patient to take heart disease medication if they do not live in a stable home, possess transportation or hold adverse ideas about medication. If a patient has a dysfunctional routine or home life, following a stable drug regimen may be difficult. Moreover, if they have had family members who have had adverse reactions or addiction problems to medications, they may be hesitant to take their heart disease medication. Farmer's (2013, 2003, 1999) statements about structural violence and social determinants of health can help guide the practitioner ask the right questions and help the practitioner judge someone's degree of agency in improving their condition. While many sources above listed lifestyle factors, only the World Organization of Health Office for Europe listed larger forces that can contribute to or be products of structural violence such as socioeconomic status, mental health or urbanization. Because heart disease has many lifestyle factors, practitioners must think about the patient's ability and resources to correct lifestyle habits.

Living in a food desert serves as an example of how patients may not contain the ability or as many resources to correct their lifestyle, in this case diet. A practitioner may prescribe a healthier diet, but with many people living in food deserts in the United States this may be difficult (Gallagher 2010; United States Department of Agriculture: Food Desert Locator, n.d.). A food desert incorporates income level, distance to supermarkets and vehicle access, broadly defined as when more than 500 people or 33% in an area live half a mile from the grocery store in an urban area or ten miles in a rural area, which encompasses 17.7% of the United States population (United States Department of Agriculture: Definitions, n.d.). If a patient lives in a food desert, they do not have access to a grocery store. Within food deserts patients only have

access to prohibitively expensive restaurants or unhealthy fast food (Gallagher 2010; United States Department of Agriculture: Definitions, n.d.; Walker et al 2010). A study with 14 study sites out of 27 in the United States found that healthy food costs an average of \$1.50 more than unhealthy food (Rao et al. 2013). The fact that unhealthy food is much more affordable than healthy food needs acknowledgement when advising diet changes. There are cheap foods that are healthy and good for heart disease (low in cholesterol, sodium, and fat) like rice, beans, oats or potatoes (Magee 2012).

Practitioner's need to explain the importance of these diet changes because of the challenges navigating healthy options poses, especially when the patient has social or financial constraints. A study of 25 working mothers and 25 working fathers found that the parents resorted to unhealthy eating options like take-out meals or missing meals because of their work constraints (Devine et al. 2009). These constraints can take many forms, such as a parent being too busy to exercise in a conventional way. The parent could benefit from ways of burning calories and building muscle mass, and therefore developing cardiovascular health, without going to the gym. Likewise, if a businessperson has a great deal of stress with their job, they may need suggestions to manage the stress, because removing the causes of stress is not possible. Additionally, if someone is unable to afford to eat properly they may not have enough energy to exercise (Feldman 2010; Traywick and Schoenberg 2008). Heart health depends on diet, exercise and stress, among other lifestyle factors, and quality communication between practitioner and patient through narrative can help tailor these known facts to an individual's life.

Communication and a patient-physician relationship can help practitioners to consider these factors and avoid diagnostic mistakes. For example, it is possible that men and women exhibit different presentations of cardiovascular diseases, which affects treatments and risk prediction when treating cardiovascular disease depending on gender (George et al. 2015; McKinlay 1996). Pengue et al. (1998) found both women and men exhibited the common signs and symptoms associated with heart disease: chest pain, fatigue, rest pain, shortness of breath and weakness. However, women with heart disease also reported loss of appetite, paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea, and back pain as initial signs and symptoms (Penque et al. 1998). At the same time, men were more likely to receive an angiography (a type of medical imaging technique) and a number of therapies when they first experienced the initial symptoms of heart disease (Penque et al. 1998). In these cases, practitioners more readily diagnose heart disease in men, and may be missing certain symptoms that women are more likely to display than men. Therefore, a "one size fits all" approach is not effective for determining cardiovascular disease risk, diagnoses, or treatments (George et al. 2015). If practitioners are able to approach symptoms on an individual level these diagnostic discrepancies could be minimized, and symptoms that women may exhibit that men do not could be identified. Ethnographic practices align with approaches that combat the "one size fits all" approach, emphasizing communication and the individual in medical practice.

At the same time, this communication helps to address any confusion or opinions the patient might have based on past experiences. In addition, the patient may have questions about alternative medicine usage. Some patients are unlikely to follow certain treatments or lifestyle changes because they have beliefs about a form of treatment. Understanding these beliefs and alternative practices can aid in integrating them with biomedicine, as with the Navajo case mentioned above (Coulehan 2003). Additionally, integration and communication are fundamental in order to address possible interactions between treatments, because certain herbal remedies are considered risk factors for heart disease (Mayo Clinic, Patient Care & Health

Information: Heart Disease, n.d.). If patients hold certain beliefs about medicines or surgery, or if lifestyle habits such as smoking or chronic stress are part of a patient's culture, communication can allow the practitioner to adjust treatment expectations to the individual.

Following these methods, practitioners can incorporate an evolutionary framework from anthropology in treating heart disease. Evolutionary mismatches presented above help to explain why lifestyle contributes to heart disease. Evolutionary theory explains why lifestyle factors like diet or exercise can have a huge effect on heart disease. These evolutionary connections can help the practitioner interpret the patient's heart condition and can be used as a tool to help the patient understand their condition. For example, humans may have evolutionary adaptations to compensate for unreliable sodium access or for fat storage to obtain food when food sources were not consistent in a hunter-gatherer lifestyle. Considering this adaptation can help us understand why our bodies are adapted for some conditions. Typically, the average American lifestyle does not require such adaptations. Adaptations for frequent exercise and unpredictable sodium and freshwater now contribute to heart disease (Trevathan, Smith, and McKenna 2008). An affinity for sodium and a metabolism adapted for exercise can explain why lifestyle factors are relevant in heart disease. Cardiovascular diseases result from differences or mismatches in our evolved environment with diet, alcohol and nicotine exposure and lifestyle (Lieberman 2013). Insights like these can help the practitioner and patient understand the diagnosis and treatment of cardiac disease.

Anthropology gives us a context to interpret the importance of lifestyle changes for treating heart disease and how to communicate this to patients in order to accomplish these changes in lifestyle. Because of the wide range of treatments for heart disease, specific treatment that the patient will most likely participate need to be prescribed, in given their life constraints

and beliefs. Because lifestyle changes and factors are constructive to heart health but not mentioned on the websites cited above as frequently as drug and surgical therapy, practitioners need to incorporate these in patient treatments. Although critical for the complete care of cardiac patients, lifestyle changes and factors are much more difficult to address than therapies like drugs or surgery. Recognizing and improving lifestyle factors in heart disease presents an example of how anthropology can help by providing a different lens with which to understand the patient with heart disease or other chronic maladies.

Conclusion

The field of anthropology can add to clinical practice for chronic illness in the United States by using a holistic blend of approaches to aid in diagnosing and treating patients.

Anthropology studies humans, striving to understand them in many different capacities. Medical professionals aim to use their knowledge to treat or improve chronic illness but need to remember the human aspect of medicine when working closely with people. In this situation, practitioners should keep in mind anthropological tools and theories while striving to deliver the best care possible.

The United States healthcare system and individual medical practitioners face many challenges with time and cost in the realms of insurance bureaucracy. Because it is difficult to separate or know the spectrum or extent to which practitioners already employ these skills, it is difficult to definitively state that incorporating anthropology into practice improves health outcomes. The lack of extra time that practitioners have to explore, learn or incorporate theories mentioned above such as narrative medicine or evolutionary theory limits the application of the recommendations in this paper. In addition, they feel that what they see as scientific treatments should take precedence. Additionally, medical schools may think that the vast amount of

information students must learn spans too much material to allow incorporation of these theories and approaches (Dent, Harden, and Hunt 2017). Moreover, theories can sometimes be difficult to apply in practice in the fast-paced environment and these increased efforts could elevate burn out in a professional where burn out is already high (Feldman 2010).

However, individual practitioners and clinics can use these theories by thinking about them and incorporating them. Asking more questions to understand someone's background, contemplating the possibility that patients will have difficulty following treatments, or asking if other alternative medicines are used, are small steps towards better care. Attempting to truly listen to patients and realize unique illness experience is not the same as another person suffering this illness can help to improve the effectiveness of the healthcare system in the United States.

References Cited

- Adler SR. 2002. Integrative Medicine and Culture: Toward an Anthropology of CAM. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly* 16(4): 412-414.
- Alberti G. Noncommunicable Diseases: Tomorrow's Pandemics. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 79(10):907.
- American Heart Association. https://healthyforgood.heart.org/ (accessed December 15, 2017).
- American Academy of Pediatrics. 2005. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk: Policy Statement. *Pediatrics*, 115, 496-506, doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-2491.
- Angell and Kassirer. 1998. Alternative Medicine-The Risks of Untested and Unregulated Remedies. *New England Journal of Medicine* 339: 839-841, doi: 10.1056/NEJM199809173391210.
- Bacon SL. 2018. The Importance of Sex in the Stress-Heart Disease Relationship and the Potential Contribution of Gender to Future Research. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 38: 290-291, doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.310461.
- Badell ML, Ramin SM, and Smith JA. 2006. Treatment option for nausea and vomiting during pregnancy. *Pharmacotherapy* 26(9): 1273-1287, doi: 10.1592/phco.26.9.1273.
- Barry CA. 2005. The role of evidence in alternative medicine: Contrasting biomedical and anthropological approaches. *Social Science & Medicine* 62: 2646-2657.
- Beeson PB. 1980. Changes in Medical Therapy during the Past Half Century. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*) 59(2):79–99.
- Ben-Arye E, Samuels N, Goldstein LH, Mutagoflu K, Omran S, Schiff E, Charalambous H et al. 2015. Potential risks associated with traditional herbal medicine use in cancer care: A Study of Middle Eastern oncology health care professionals. *Cancer* 122: 598-619, doi: 10.1002/cncr.29796.
- Blumenthal D, Abrams MK, and Nuzum R. 2015. The Affordable Care Act at 5 Years. *New England Journal of Medicine* 372: 2451-2458.
- Bloche MG. 2004. Race-Based Therapeutics. *New England Journal of Medicine* 351(20): 2035-2037, doi: 10.1056/NEJMp048271.
- Boas F. 1911. *The Mind of Primitive Man.* London: Macmillan Company.
- Bourdieu P. 1998. *Structures and the Habitus: In Outline of a Theory of Practice*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

- Braveman PA, Cubbin C, Egerter S, Williams DR, and Pamuk E. 2009. Socioeconomic Disparities in Health in the United States: What the Patterns Tell Us. American Journal of *Public Health* 100(S1): S186-S196, doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.166082.
- Brierley ME, Brooks KR, Mond J, Stevenson RJ, and Stephen ID. 2016. The Body and the Beautiful: Health, Attractiveness and Body Composition in Men's and Women's Bodies. *PLoS One* 11(6).
- Brindis CD, Freund KM, Baecher-Lind L, Bairey CN, Carnes M, Gulati M, Joffe H et al. 2017. The Risk of Remaining Silent: Addressing the Current Threats to Women's Health. *Women's Health Issues* 27(6): 621-624, doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2017.10.006.
- Brody H. 2017. Patient-Centered Care of Drug-Center Care: The Influence of Pharmaceutical Marketing on Medical Science and Public Health. In: Ho D. (eds) *Philosophical Issues in Pharmaceutics*. Philosophy and Medicine Vol 122. Springer: Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- Busby H. 1999. Alternative medicine/alternative knowledges: Putting flesh on the bones. In *Complementary and alternative medicines, knowledge in practice*. S. Cant, & U. Sharma eds. London: Free Association.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC's State Public Health Actions to Prevent and Control Diabetes, Heart Disease, Obesity and Associated Risk Factors and Promote School Health. https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/programs/spha/index.htm (accessed December 14, 2017).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Defining Adult Overweight and Obesity. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/defining.html (accessed March 1, 2018).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Heart Disease Fact Sheet.

 https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/data_statistics/fact_sheets/fs_heart_disease.htm (accessed December 18, 2017).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. Released December 2016. Data are from the Multiple Cause of Death Files, 1999-2015, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program. http://wonder.cdc.gov/mcd-icd10.html (accessed December 10, 2017).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2011. Million HeartsTM: strategies to reduce the prevalence of leading cardiovascular disease risk factors Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 60(36):1248–51.
- Charo RA. 2017. The Trump administration and the abandonment of teen pregnancy prevention programs. *JAMA Internal Medicine* 177(11): 1557-1558, doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.4873.

- Charon R. 2008. *Narrative Medicine: Honoring the Stories of Illness*. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Charon R. 2001. Narrative Medicine: A Model for Empathy, Reflection, Profession, and Trust. *American Medical Association* 286(15): 1897-1902, doi:10.1001/jama.286.15.1897.
- Charon R, DasGupta S, Hermann N, Irvine C, Marcus ER, Colón ER, Spencer D, and Spiegel M. 2016. *The Principles and Practice of Narrative Medicine*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cohen S, Gianaros PJ, and Manuck SB. 2016. A Stage Model of Stress and Disease. *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 11(4): 456-463.
- Collins JW, David RJ, Handler A, Wall S, and Andes S. 2004. Very Low Birthweight in African American Infacts: The Role of Maternal Exposure to Interpersonal Racial Discrimination. *American Journal of Public Health* 94(12): 2132-2138.
- Conklin T. 2002. Health Care in the United States: An Evolving System. *Michigan Family Review* 7(1): 5-17.
- Cooter R, and Pickstone, J. 2000. *Medicine in the Twentieth Century*. Reading, UK: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Cornani-Huntly JC, Harris TB, Everett DF, Albanes D, Micozzi MS, Miles TP. 1991. An overview of body weight of older persons, including the impact on mortality. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. An epidemiological follow up study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 44(8): 743-753.
- Coulehan J. 2003. Metaphor and Medicine: Narrative in Clinical Practice. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine* 76(2): 87-95.
- Coulter ID, and Willis EM. 2004. The rise and rise of complementary and alternative medicine: a sociological perspective. *The Medical Journal of Australia* 180(11): 587-589.
- Cuff PA, and Vanselow NA (eds). 2004. *Improving Medical Education: Enhancing the Behavioral and Social Science Content of Medical School Curricula*. Washington (DC): National Academics Press.
- Cryer B, Barnett MA, Wagner J, and Wilcox CM. 2016. Overuse and Misperceptions of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs in the United States. *American Journal of Medical Science* 352(5): 472-480, doi: 10.1016/j.amjms.2016.08.028.
- Davis TC, Dolan NC, Ferreira MR, Tomori C, Green KW, Sipler AM, and Bennet CL. 2001. The role of inadequate health literacy skills in colorectal cancer screening. *Cancer Investigation* 19(2): 193-200.

- Delle JA, Mrozowski SA, and Paynter R. 2000. *Lines that Divide: Historical Archaeologies of Race, Class, and Gender.* Knoxville, TN: University of Tennessee Press.
- Dent J, Harden RM, and Hunt D. 2017. *A Practical Guide for Medical Teachers*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Devine CM, Farrell TJ, Blake CE, Jastran M, Wethington E, and Bisogni CA. 2009. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 41(5): 365-370, doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2009.01.007.
- Diehr P, Bild DE, Harris TB, Duxbury A, Siscovick D, and Rossi M. 1988. Body-mass index and mortality in nonsmoking older adults: the cardiovascular health study. *American Journal of Public Health* 88(4): 623-629.
- Dowsey MM, Choong PF, Elizabeth W, Spelman T, Namba RS, and Inacio MC. 2018. Body Mass Index Is Associated With All-cause Mortality After THA and TKA. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. Online Volume Publish Ahead of Print, doi: 10.1007/s11999.000000000000108.
- Dressler WW. 1979. Disorganization, Adaptation, and Arterial Blood Pressure. *Medical Anthropology* 3(2): 225-48, doi: 10.1080/01459740.1979.9965840.
- Eaton SB, and Konner MJ. Paleolithic Nutrition—A Consideration of Its Nature and Current Implications. 1985. *New England Journal of Medicine* 312 (5): 283-289, doi: 10.1056/NEJM198501313120505.
- Eaton SB, Konner MJ, Shostak M. 1988. Stone agers in the fast lane: Chronic degenerative diseases in evolutionary perspective. *The American Journal of Medicine* 84(4): 739-749.
- Essayli JH, Murakami JM, Wilson RE, Latner JD. 2017. The Impact of Weight Labels on Body Image, Internalized Weight Stigma, Affect, Percevied Health, and Intended Weight Loss Behavior in Normal-Weight and Overweight College Women. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 31(6): 484-490, doi: 10.1177/0890117116661982.
- Farmer P. 1999. *Infections and inequalities*. Oakland, CA: University of California Press.
- Farmer P. 2003. Pathologies of Power. Oakland, CA: University of California Press.
- Farmer P, Kleinman A, Young Kim J, and Basilico M. 2013. *Reimagining global health: an introduction*. Oakland, CA: University of California Press.
- Feldman, R.S. 2011. *Development Across the Life Span (6th ed)*. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Ferguson M, and Molfese P. 2007. Breast-fed infants process speech differently from bottle-fed infants: Evidence from neuroelectrophysiology. *Developmental Neuropsychology* 31(3): 337-347.

- Ferlie E, Montgomery K, and Pedersen AR. 2016. The Oxford Handbook of Health Care Management. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Flaxman SM, Sherman PW. 2000. Morning sickness: a mechanism for protecting mother and embryo. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 75(2): 113-148.
- Ford ES, Bergmann MM, Kröger J, Schienkiewitz A, Weikert C, and Boeing H. 2009. Healthy living is the best revenge: findings from the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition-Potsdam study. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 169(15):1355-62, doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.237.
- Foster GM, and Anderson BG. 1988. *Medical Anthropology*. New York: Random House USA Inc.
- Foucault M. 1963. *The Birth of the Clinic: An Archeology of Medical Perception*. New York: Vintage.
- Foucault M.1984. The History Of Sexuality Vol. 1: The Will to Knowledge. London: Penguin.
- Fox News (Singman B). 2017. Trump administration rolls back ObamaCare contraceptive mandate. http://www.foxnews.com/politics/2017/10/06/trump-administration-rolls-back-obamacare-contraceptive-mandate.html (accessed February 28, 2018).
- Galea S. 2017. How the Trump Administration's Policies May Harm the Public's Health. *The Milbank Quarterly* 95(2): 229-232.
- Gallagher EB. 1978. *The Doctor-Patient Relationship in the Changing Health Scene*. Washington: Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.
- Gallagher M. 2010. USDA Defines Food Desert. *American Nutrition Association*. 38(2). http://americannutritionassociation.org/newsletter/usda-defines-food-deserts (accessed January 23, 207)
- Garcia BA. 2018. Office of Policy and Planning: Policy Update 01/4/2018. San Francisco Department of Public Health. https://www.sfdph.org/dph/files/election/FederalStateLocalUpdate01-4-2018.pdf
- Garrouste-Orgeas M, Troche G, Azoulay E, Caubel A, de Lassence A, Cheval C, Montesino L. 2004. Body mass index. An additional prognostic factor in ICU patients. *Intensive Care Medicine* 30: 437-443.
- Gawande A. 2014. *Being Mortal: Medicine and What Matters in the End.* New York: Metropolitan Books Henry Holt and Company.
- George FM, and Anderson BG. 1988. Medical Anthropology. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

- George J, Rapsomaniki E, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Shah AD, Denaxas S, Herrett E, Smeeth L et al. 2015. How Does Cardiovascular Disease First Present in Women and Men? Incidence of 12 Cardiovascular Diseases in a Contemporary Cohort of 1,937,360 People. *Circulation* CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013797
- Gerrish CJ, and Mennella JA. 2000. Short-term influence of breastfeeding on the infants' interaction with the environment. *Developmental Psychobiology* 36: 40-48.
- Glied S, Ma S, and Borja A. 2017. *Effect of the Affordable Care Act on Health Care Access*. New York: The Commonwealth Fund.
- Gluckman PD, and Hanson MA. 2004. Living with the Past: Evolution, Development, and Patterns of Disease. *Science* 305(5691): 1733-1736.
- Gómez-Ambrosi J, Silva C, Galofré JC, Escalada J, Santos S, Millán D, Vila N et al. 2012. Body mass index classification misses subjects with increased cardiometabolic risk factors related to elevated adiposity. *International Journal of Obesity* 36(2): 286–294, doi: 10.1038/ijo.2011.100.
- Habermas J. 1970. Towards a theory of communicative competence. *Inquiry* 13(1-4): 360-375, doi: 10.1080/00201747008601597.
- Hardy A. 2008. *The Integration of Traditional and Western Medicine in Ngaoundere, Cameroon.* Middletown, CT: Wesleyan University.
- HealthCare.gov. Affordable Care Act (ACA). https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/affordable-care-act/ (accessed December 27, 2017).
- HealthCare.gov. Birth control benefits. https://www.healthcare.gov/coverage/birth-control-benefits/ (accessed February 28, 2018).
- Hill JD. 1992. Contested Pasts and the Practice of Anthropology. *American Anthropologist* 94(4): 809-815.
- Hruschka DJ, Lende DH, Worthman CM. 2005. Biocultural Dialogues: Biology and Culture in Psychological Anthropology. *Ethos* 33(1): 1-19, doi: 10.1525/eth.2005.33.1.001.
- Hymes DH (Ed.). 1974. Reinventing anthropology. New York: Pantheon Books.
- Kane RL. 2009. What can improve chronic disease care? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 57(12):2338-45, doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02569.x.
- Kampa M, and Castanas E. 2008. Human health effects of air pollution. *Environmental Pollution* 151(2): 362-367.

- Kassirer JP, Kuipers BJ, and Gorry GA. 1988. Toward a theory of clinical expertise. In *Professional Judgment: A Reader in Clinical Decision Making*. Dowie, J., Elstein, A., eds. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kelly PA, and Haidet P. 2007. Physician overestimation of patient literacy: a potential source of health care disparities. *Patient Education and Counseling* 66(1):119-22.
- Kirsch I, Jungeblut A, Jenkins L, and Kolstad A. 1993. Adult literacy in America: a first look at the results of the National Adult Literacy Survey. National Center for Education Statistics, US Department of Education.
- Konnor M. 2002. *The Tangled Wing: Biological Constraints on the Human Spirit*. New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Kramer M, Aboud F, Mironova E, Vanilovich I, Platt R, Matush L, Igumnov S et al. 2008. Breastfeeding and child cognitive development: New evidence from a large randomized trial. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 65(5): 578-584, doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.65.5.578.
- Lars J. 2003. Hazards of heavy metal contamination. *British Medical Bulletin* 68(1): 167-182.
- Leake CD. 1975. Percival's Medical Ethics. New York: Robert E. Krieger Publishing Company.
- Levitt L, Claxton G, Damico A, and Cox C. 2016. Assessing ACA Marketplace Enrollment. The Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation http://kff.org/health-reform/issue-brief/assessing-aca-marketplace-enrollment/ (accessed December 27th, 2017).
- Lieberman DE. 2013. *The Story of the Human Body: Evolution, Health, and Disease*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Lief HI, and Fox R. 1963. Training for "detached concern" in medical students: The Psychological Basis for Medical Practice. New York: Harper & Row.
- Lock M, and Gordon D (Eds.). 1988. *Biomedicine Examined*. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Lock M, and Nguyen VK. 2018. An Anthropology of Biomedicine (2nd edition). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Logan MH, and Hunt EE. 1978. *Health and Human Condition*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Magee E. 2012. 5 Healthy Foods for about \$2: A grocery list to help you cut food prices while you boost nutrition. WebMD. https://www.webmd.com/food-recipes/features/cheap-healthy-15-nutritious-foods-about-2-dollars#1 (accessed December 18, 2017).

- MacIntyre A. 1979 Medicine aimed at the care of persons rather than what...? In *Changing Values in Medicine*, Cassell, J., Siegler, M., eds. Frederick, MD: United Publications of America.
- MacLennan AH, Wilson DH, and Taylor AW. 2002. The Escalating Cost and Prevalence of Alternative Medicine. *Preventive Medicine* 35(2): 166-173.
- Manderson L, and Smith-Morris C. 2010. *Chronic Conditions, Fluid States: Chronicity and the Anthropology of Illness.* New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Marcum JA. 2008. *An Introductory Philosophy of Medicine: Humanizing Modern Medicine*. New York: Springer Netherlands.
- Mayo Clinic. Patient Care & Health Information: Heart Disease.

 https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/heart-disease/symptoms-causes/syc-20353118 (accessed December 14, 2017).
- McGettigan P, and Henry D. 2013. Use of Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs That Elevate Cardiovascular Risk: An Examination of Sales and Essential Medicines Lists in Low-, Middle-, and High-Income Countries. *PLOS Medicine* 10(2): 1-6.
- McKee J. 1988. Holistic health and the critique of western medicine. *Social Science & Medicine* 26(8): 775-784.
- McKenna JJ, and Gettler LT. 2015. There is no such thing as infant sleep, there is no such thing as breastfeeding, there is only *breastsleeping*. *Acta Paediatr* 105: 17-21, doi:10.1111/apa.13161.
- McKinlay JB. 1996. Some Contributions from the Social System to Gender Inequalities in Heart Disease. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 37(1): 1-26.
- McWhinney IR. 1978. Medical knowledge and the rise of technology. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 3:293–304.
- Mensh GA, Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Greelund KJ, and Janet BC. 2005. State of disparities in Cardiovascular Health in the United States. *Circulation* 111(10): 1233-1241.
- Mishler EG. 1985. The Discourse of Medicine: Dialectics of Medical Interviews (Language and Learning from Human Service Professions). Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Moberg M. 2013. *Engaging Anthropological Theory: A Social and Political History*. New York: Routledge.
- Moons P, De Volder E, and Budts W. 2001. What do adult patients with congenital heart disease know about their disease, treatment, and prevention of complications? A call for structured patient education. *Heart* 86(1):74-80.

- Munson R. 1981. Why medicine cannot be a science. *The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 6(2) 183-208.
- National Broadcasting Company (Fox M). 2017. Trump Just Made It Easier for Employers to Refuse to Pay for Birth Control. https://www.nbcnews.com/health/health-care/trump-just-made-it-so-employers-can-refuse-pay-birth-n808386 (accessed February 28, 2018).
- National Public Radio (Kodjak A). 2017. Trump Guts Requirement That Employer Health Plan Pays for Birth Control. https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2017/10/06/555970210/trump-ends-requirement-that-employer-health-plans-pay-for-birth-control (accessed February 28, 2018).
- National Cancer Institute. NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms.

 https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms?cdrid=454743 (accessed Feburary 1, 2018).
- O'Connor B. 2002. Personal Experience, Popular Epistemology, and Complementary and Alternative Medicine Research. The Role of Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Accommodating Pluralism. Washington DC: Georgetown University Press.
- Pellegrino E. 1999. The Commodification of Medical and Health Care: The Moral Consequences of a Paradigm Shift from a Professional to a Market Ethic. *The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy* 24 (3): 243-66.
- Penque S, Halm M, Smith M, Deutsch J, Roekel MV, McLaughlin L, Dzubay S et al. 1998. Women and Coronary Disease: Relationship Between Descriptors of Sign and Symptoms and Diagnostic and Treatment Course. *American Journal of Critical Care* 7(3), 175-182.
- Porter R. 1997. The Greatest Benefit to Mankind: A Medical History of Humanity from Antiquity to the Present. London: Harper Collins.
- Powers S, and Howley E. 2015. Exercise Physiology: Theory and Application to Fitness and Performance. New York: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Radley A. 2002. Worlds of Illness: Biographical and Cultural Perspectives on Health and Disease. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Rao M, Afshin A, Singh G, and Mozaffarian D. Do healthier foods and diet patterns cost more than less healthy options? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 3(12): 1-16, doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004277,
- Remen RN. 2002. From the heart. In *A Life in Medicine; A Literary Anthology*. Coles, R., Testa, R., eds. New York: New York Press.

- Rizzi DA, and Pedersen SA. 1992. Causality in medicine: towards a theory and terminology. *Theoretical Medicine* 13(3):233–254.
- Rothman KJ. 2008. BMI-related errors in the measurement of obesity. *International Journal of Obesity* 32: S56–S59, doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.87.
- Saltzman E, and Eibner C. 2015. The Ramifications of Repealing the Individual Mandate. *The Commonwealth Fund*.

 http://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/blog/2015/aug/the-ramifications-of-repealing-the-individual-mandate
- Samora J, Saunders L, and Larson R. 1961. Medical vocabulary knowledge among hospital patients. *Journal of Health and Human Behavior* 83-92, doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.1991.tb00676.x.
- Sargent CF, and Johnson TM. 1996. *Medical Anthropology: Contemporary Theory and Method.* Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Schneider EC, Sarnak DO, Squires D, Shah A, and Doty MM. Mirror, Mirror 2017: International Comparison Reflects Flaws and Opportunities for Better U.S. Health Care, The Commonwealth Fund. http://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/fund-reports/2017/jul/mirror-mirror-international-comparisons-2017 (accessed January 20, 2018).
- Shankles E. 1998. The Profession of the Color Blind: Sociocultural Anthropology and Racism in the 21st Century. *American Anthropologist* 100(3): 669-679, doi: 10.1525/aa.1998.100.3.669.
- Singer M, ed. 1992. *The application of theory in medical anthropology*. Philadelphia: Gordon and Breach.
- Smith LM. 1978. An Evolving Logic of Participant Observation, Educational Ethnography, and Other Case Studies. *SAGE Journals* 6(1): 316-377.
- Society for Medical Anthropology: A Section of the American Anthropological Association. What is Medical Anthropology? http://www.medanthro.net/about/about-medical-anthropology/ (accessed March 25, 2018).
- Sontag S. 1970. *The Anthropologists as Hero*. E.N. Hayes and T. Hayes, eds. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Squires D, and Anderson C. 2015. U.S Health Care from a Global Perspective. The Commonwealth Fund. http://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2015/oct/us-health-care-from-a-global-perspective (accessed November 22, 2017).

- Stearns SC, and Medzhitov R. 2015. *Evolutionary Medicine (1st edition)*. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates.
- Stearns SC. Nesse RM, Govindaraji DR, Ellison PT. 2010. Evolutionary perspective on health and medicine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* 107(1): 1691-1695, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0914475107.
- Stepan N. 1982. Idea of Race in Science: Great Britain 1800-1960. New York: Springer.
- Steptoe A, and Whitehead DL. 2005. Depression, stress and coronary heart disease: the need for more complex models. *Heart* 91(4): 419-420, doi: 10.1136/hrt.2004.045310.
- Swedberg R. 2014. The Art of Social Theory. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Switankowsky I. 2000. Dualism and its importance for medicine. *Theoretical Medicine* 21(6):567–580.
- Tabatabael Z, Yazdani S, and Sadeghi R. 2016. Barriers to integration of behavioral and social sciences in the general medicine curriculum and recommended strategies to overcome them: A systematic review. *Journal of Advances in Medical Education and Professionalism* 4(3): 111-121.
- Team USA Rio 2016 Olympic Games-Gymnastics. https://www.teamusa.org/road-to-rio-2016/team-usa/gymnastics (accessed March 1, 2018).
- The Jay Weiss Center for Social Medicine and Health Equity. University of Miami Leonard M. Miller School of Medicine (accessed December 17, 2017).
- Tudor-Hart JT. 1993. Hypertension guidelines: Other diseases complicate management. *British Medical Journal* 306 (6888): 1337.
- Toombs SK. 1993. The Meaning of Illness. A Phenomenological Account of the Different Perspectives of Physician and Patient. New York: Springer.
- Traywick L, and Schoenberg N. 2008. Determinants of exercise among older female heart attack survivors. *Journal of Applied Gerontology* 27(1): 52-77.
- Trevathan WR, Smith EO, and McKenna JJ. 2008. *Evolutionary Medicine and Health*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Tsuei JJ. 1978. Eastern and Western Approaches to Medicine. *The Western Journal of Medicine*. 128(6): 551-557.
- United States Department of Agriculture: Definitions. Last updated 2017. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/documentation#indicators (accessed January 23, 2017).

- United States Department of Agriculture. Food Desert Locator. 2017. https://www.fns.usda.gov/tags/food-desert-locator (accessed January 23, 2017).
- United States Department of Health & Human Services: National Heart Lung, and Blood Institute. Heart Disease in Women. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/heart-disease-women#Treatment (accessed December 15, 2017).
- USA Track & Field. http://www.usatf.org/Athlete-Bios.aspx (accessed March 1, 2018).
- U.S. National Library of Medicine. Complementary and Alternative Medicine. National Institutes of Health. https://www.nlm.nih.gov/tsd/acquisitions/cdm/subjects24.html (accessed February 16, 2018).
- Van Dam NT, Van Vugt MK, Vago DR, Schmalzl L, Saron CD, Olendzki A, Meissner T et al. 2018. Mind the Hype: A Critical Evaluation and Prescriptive Agenda for Research on Mindfulness and Meditation. *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 13(1): 36-61, doi: 10.1177/1745691617709589.
- Volpp KG, Loewenstein G, Troxel AB, Doshi J, Price M, Laskin M, and Kimmel SE. 2008. A test of financial incentives to improve warfarin adherence. *BMC Health Services Research* 8:272, doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-8-272.
- Wardle JL, Adams J. 2014. Indirect and non-health risks associated with complementary and alternative medicine use: An integrative review. *European Journal of Integrative Medicine* 6(4): 409-422.
- Waitzkin H. 2000. *The Second Sickness: Contradictions of Capitalist Health Care*. Boulder, CO: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Walker RE, Keane CR, and Burke JG. 2010. Disparities and access to healthy food in the United States: A review of food deserts literature. *Health & Place* 16(5): 876-884, doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.04.013.
- Warrell DA, Cox TM, Firth JD, and Benz EJ, eds. 2003. Oxford Textbook of Medicine: 4th edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Weatherall D, Greenwood B, Chee HL, and Wasi P. 2006. Chapter 5: Science and Technology for Disease Control: Past, Present, and Future. *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries: 2nd edition.* Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, et al., eds. Washington (DC): The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development; New York: Oxford University.
- WebMD. Heart Disease: Treatment & Care. https://www.webmd.com/heart-disease/guide/heart-disease-guide/heart-disease-treatment-care (accessed December 14, 2017).

- WebMD. What Exactly is Alternative Care? https://www.webmd.com/balance/guide/what-is-alternative-medicine#1 (accessed February 16, 2018).
- Weiss BD. 2007. Health Literacy and Patient Safety: Help Patients Understand: A Manual for Clinicians: 2nd edition. Chicago, IL: American Medical Association Foundation and American Medical Association.
- Whitehead T. 2002. *What is Ethnography?* Ethnographically informed community and cultural assessment research systems (EICCARS). The Cultural Systems Analysis Group (CuSAG). College Park, MD: Department of Anthropology University of Maryland.
- Willett WC. 2002. Balancing Lifestyle and Genomics Research for Disease Prevention. *Science* 296(5568):695-698.
- Williams MV, Davis T, Parker RM, Weiss BD. 2002. *Communicating With Special Populations* 34(5): 383-389.
- Womack M. 2010. The Anthropology of Health and Healing. Lanham, MD: AltaMira Press.
- Woolf SH, and Aron L. 2013. U.S. Health in International Perspective: Shorter Lives, Poorer Health. Washington DC: National Academies Press.
- World Health Organization. Health and Development. http://www.who.int/hdp/en/ (accessed December 27, 2017).
- World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Cardiovascular Diseases:Data and Statistics. http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicable-diseases/cardiovascular-diseases/data-and-statistics (accessed January 22, 2017)
- Pert C. 1999. *Molecules of Emotion: The Science Behind Mind-Body Medicine*. New York: Scribner.
- Zhang J, Patel VL, Johnson TR, and Shortliffe EH. 2004 A cognitive taxonomy of medical errors. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 37(3):193–204, doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2004.04.004.